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Characteristics of GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(the “Stock Exchange”)
EEBBMERZMERAA (B IGEM 2B E
GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make

the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid

market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the

contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)") of Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (the "Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or

this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of
the Stock Exchange website at http.//www.hkexnews.hk for at least 7 days
from its date of posting and on the designated website of this Company at
http://www.zjuv8366.com.
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Highlights
BE

REVENUE
Yezs

FY2023/24: HK$302.10m
ZEC=/ZEF 302 10EBET
FY2022/23: HK$199.17m

i Sty gty ) E- 2 PPN WAER-5 0

LOSS PER SHARE

FkEE

FY2023/24: HK0.02 cents
—T== /A ¢ 0.02 7L
FY2022/23: HK0.20 cents
—T- - /T ZBHE 02051

GROSS PROFIT
7

FY2023/24: HK$5.76m
ZECZ/ZBE ST6EBBT
FY2022/23: HK$3.91m
ZECC/CCHF 39 BEEAL

NET LOSS

FY2023/24: HK$0.35m
ZEZ=/ZMME 035 BEAT
FY2022/23: HK$3.08m
TR/ CCHMF 38 RERT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is a contractor principally engaged in undertaking slope works,
foundation works and other general building works in Hong Kong. Slope works
generally refer to landslip preventive and remedial works for improving or
maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining walls. Foundation works are
generally concerned with the construction of foundations. General building
works mainly include the general construction of buildings. Fraser Construction
Company Limited, our principal operating subsidiary, is an approved specialist
contractor included in the List of Approved Specialist Contractors for Public
Works maintained by the Development Bureau of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the “Hong Kong Government”) under
the categories of “Landslip Preventive/Remedial Works to Slopes/Retaining
Walls" with a confirmed status and “Land Piling (Group I1)”. Being on such list
is a prerequisite for tendering for public sector projects in the relevant works
categories. In addition, Fraser Construction Company Limited is registered
under the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as a
(i) Registered Specialist Contractor under the sub-register of “Site Formation
Works" and “Foundation Works" categories; and (ii) Registered General Building

Contractor.

The Group experienced an increase in revenue and decrease in gross profit
margin, recorded a decrease in net loss for the year ended 30 April 2024
compared to the net loss for the year ended 30 April 2023. Hong Kong
construction companies are still facing tougher competitive condition, as well
as the slower progress of scrutinising the funding proposals for public works
projects by the Finance Committee and the Public Works Subcommittee due to
slow down economy in Hong Kong. The Group has also been facing challenging
operating environment resulting from increasing costs of operation including, in
particular, higher subcontracting rate and higher general operation costs. As such,

the Directors consider that competition in the market has remained intense.
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The Directors are also cautiously monitoring the overall construction costs with
respect to the works undertaken by the Group which are affected by factors
including the overall market conditions and costs in the construction industry as

well as overall economy in Hong Kong.

Going forward, in developing the Group's business, the Directors will continue to
carefully evaluate the potential costs and to control the Group's overall costs to

an acceptable and satisfactory level.

Nevertheless, we believe that the Hong Kong Government's continuing increase
in major construction and infrastructure projects in Hong Kong will increase
the demand for slope works because of the public safety. The Hong Kong
Government still maintains its stand to launch a rolling Landslip Prevention and
Mitigation Programme to systematically deal with the landslide risk associated
with both man-made slopes and natural hillsides. The stand enables steady flow
of slopes construction works load to the construction industry. All in all, the
Directors remain cautiously optimistic about the slope works industry in Hong

Kong.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has obtained public projects from
each of Civil Engineering and Development Department (“CEDD") and Lands
Department of the Hong Kong Government respectively, which are expected to

be completed in the coming years.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's overall revenue increased by approximately HK$102.93 million
or 51.68% from approximately HK$199.17 million for the year ended 30 April
2023 to approximately HK$302.10 million for the year ended 30 April 2024.
The increase in revenue is mainly due to the increase in revenue derived from

undertaking slope works as further discussed below.
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The Board regards the Group's business of construction as a single operating
segment and reviews the overall results of the Group as a whole to make
decision about resources allocation. Accordingly, no segment analysis information
is presented. No separate analysis of segment information by geographical
segment is presented as the Group's revenue and non-current assets are
principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is in Hong Kong.
The Group's principal operating activities for the year ended 30 April 2024 are

as follows:

Slope works: Undertaking landslip preventive and remedial works for improving
or maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining walls. Revenue from
undertaking slope works increased from approximately HK$199.01 million for
the year ended 30 April 2023 to approximately HK$301.80 million for the year
ended 30 April 2024, representing an increase of approximately 51.65%. The
increase in revenue was primarily attributable due to the increase of slope work

projects.

Foundation works: Undertaking works in relation to the construction of
foundations for general building construction. Revenue from undertaking
foundation works increased from approximately HK$0.16 million for the year
ended 30 April 2023 to approximately HK$0.29 million for the year ended 30
April 2024, representing an increase of approximately 81.25%, as a result of the
increase in the number of foundation work projects undertaken by our Group
during the year ended 30 April 2024.

The Group's direct costs increased by approximately HK$101.08 million or
51.77% from approximately HK$195.26 million for the year ended 30 April 2023
to approximately HK$296.34 million for the year ended 30 April 2024. Such
increment was mainly attributable to the increase in amount of works performed

resulting in the increase in our subcontracting charges.
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The Group's gross profit increased by approximately HK$1.85 million or
47.31% from approximately HK$3.91 million for the year ended 30 April 2023
to approximately HK$5.76 million for the year ended 30 April 2024 and the
Group's gross profit margin slightly decreased from approximately 1.96% for the
year ended 30 April 2023 to approximately 1.91% for the year ended 30 April
2024. The decrease in gross profit margin were mainly due to slightly increased
in subcontracting rate and overall construction costs for existing projects under
the tougher competitive condition and challenging operating environment in

Hong Kong construction market.

Other Income and Other Gain

The Group's other income and other gain amounted to approximately HK$1.85
million and HK$2.17 million for the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023
respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of reversal for
provision of litigation claims of approximately HK$0.79 million for the year ended

30 April 2024.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$0.88
million or approximately 10.85% from approximately HK$8.1| million for the
year ended 30 April 2023 to approximately HK$7.23 million for the year ended
30 April 2024. The decrease in the Group's administrative expenses was mainly

due to the decrease in total staff costs.
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Impairment loss on financial assets under expected credit loss model, net of reversal

Impairment loss on financial assets under expected credit loss model, net of
reversal amounted to approximately HK$0.36 million reversal and HK$0.33
million loss for the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023 respectively, details of

which are as follows:

(i)  During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group has incurred reversal of
an impairment loss of approximately HK$0.36 million. More information
is set out in notes 8(b) to the annual report for the year ended 30 April
2024.

(i)  During the year ended 30 April 2023, the Group has incurred an
impairment loss of approximately HK$0.33 million. More information is set

out in note 8(b) to the annual report for the year ended 30 April 2024.

Finance Costs
During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group has incurred financial costs
of approximately HK$1.08 million (2023: HK$0.72 million) due to interest on

borrowings.

Net Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2024
was approximately HK$0.35 million as compared to loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$3.08 million for the year ended 30 April
2023. The decrease in net loss for the year was mainly due to increase in gross
profit and decrease in administrative expenses for the year ended 30 April 2024

as discussed above.

Final Dividend
The Board did not recommend a payment of a final dividend for the year ended
30 April 2024 (2023: Nil).
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 April 2024, current assets amounted to HK$64.31 million (2023:
HK$52.48 million) of which HK$33.83 million (2023: HK$1.15 million) was cash
and cash equivalents, HK$26.26 million (2023: HK$47.04 million) was trade and
other receivables. The Group's current liabilities amounted to HK$87.52 million
(2023: HK$74.81 million), including trade and other payables in the amount of
HK$73.51 million (2023: HK$58.12 million). Calculated based on current assets
of HK$64.31 million (2023: HK$52.48 million) divided by current liabilities of
HK$87.52 million (2023: HK$74.81 million), current ratio was 0.73 (2023: 0.70).

CASH POSITION

As at 30 April 2024, the cash at banks and other financial institution and cash
in hand of the Group amounted to approximately HK$33.83 million (2023:
approximately HK$I.15 million), representing an increase of approximately

HK$32.68 million as compared to 30 April 2023.

CHARGES OVER ASSETS OF THE GROUP
There is no charge over assets of the Group as at 30 April 2024 (2023: Nil).

GEARING RATIO
As at 30 April 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately negative
220.67% (2023: approximately negative 95.69%).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts HK$49.96 million (2023: HK$21.33
million) divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company HK$22.64
million deficit (2023: HK$22.29 million deficit) as the respective reporting date.
For this purpose total debts is defined as amounts due to former directors,
amount due to a director of a subsidiary, and borrowings as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group's gearing ratio was

negative as the Group's equity was deficit position as at 30 April 2024.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The majority of the Group's transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollar. The Group has no material exposure to exchange rate risk for

the year ended 30 April 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no material capital commitment as at 30 April 2024 (2023: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 April 2024, the Group had 73 (2023: 94) employees, including the
Directors. Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) were approximately
HK$4.09 million for the year ended 30 April 2024 as compared to approximately
HK$4.75 million for the year ended 30 April 2023. The remuneration policy
and package of the Group's employees were annually reviewed. The salaries
increment and discretionary bonuses may be awarded to employees according to

the assessment of individual performance.

The emoluments of the Directors were reviewed by the remuneration committee
of the Company, having regard to the Company's operating results, market

competitiveness, individual performance, and approved by the Board.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES, AND
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have other plans for material investments or capital assets as
of 30 April 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 April 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
There was no change in the capital structure of the Company for the year ended
30 April 2024 and 2023. The share capital of the Group only comprises of

ordinary shares.
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As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, the Company's issued capital was approximately
HK$15.77 million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,577,200,000
of HK$0.01 each.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's key risk exposures are summmarised as follows:

A significant portion of the Group's past revenue was generated from
contracts granted by the Hong Kong Government and statutory bodies,
which are non-recurrent in nature, and if the level of Hong Kong
Government's spending on construction projects particularly for slope
works is reduced, the Group's financial performance may be materially

affected;

i, The Group is dependent on its senior management and in-house engineers,
inability to retain its staff may adversely affect the Group's business

operations; and

ii.  Any delays in the Group's projects may affect the Group's cash flows and

may have adverse impact on the Group's business and reputation.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to the section

headed "Risks Factors” in the Company's prospectus dated 23 October 2015.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company's subsidiaries
in Hong Kong while the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our
establishment and operations shall therefore comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong. External compliance and legal advisers are engaged
to ensure transactions and businesses performed by the Group are within the
applicable law framework. Updates on applicable laws, rules and regulations
are brought to the attention of relevant employees and operation units from
time to time. During the year ended 30 April 2024 and up to the date of this
announcement, there is no material non-compliance with the relevant prevailing

laws and regulations.in Hong Kong by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS
AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group's customers mainly include (a) for public sector projects, Hong Kong
Government departments such as CEDD, Lands Department and Architectural
Services Department, as well as other statutory bodies including the Hong Kong
Housing Authority; and (b) for private sector projects, private corporations and

other entities in the private sector.

During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group served customers from both
of public and private sector in Hong Kong. The Group has business relationship

with most of the top customers ranging from one year to over 10 years.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the year ended 30 April 2024, the suppliers of goods and services which
were specific to the business of the Group and were required on a regular
basis to enable the Group to continue to carry on its business included (i)
subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the slope works; (i) suppliers
of construction materials and consumables as such high-tensile steel, structural

steel, cement and aggregates.

The Group maintains an internal list of approved subcontractors. While engaging
subcontractors, the Group generally selects the most suitable subcontractor from
the approved list based on their relevant experience as well as their availability

and fee quotations.

The Group did not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials from
suppliers or assigning subcontractors during the year ended 30 April 2024. Also,
there is no significant dispute with our top five suppliers and subcontractors

during the year ended 30 April 2024.
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Employees

The Group believes that employees are important assets and their contribution
and support are valued at all times. The Group provides competitive
remuneration packages to attract and retain employees with the aim to form
a professional staff and management team that can bring the Group to new
levels of success. The Group regularly reviews compensation according to
industry benchmark, financial results as well as the individual performance of
employees. Furthermore, the Group places great emphasis on the training and
development of employees and regards excellent employees as a key factor in its

competitiveness.

Project during the Year

There was no new significant project for the year ended 30 April 2024 and 2023.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$349,000 for the
year ended 30 April 2024 and as at 30 April 2024, the Group had net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$23,201,000 and HK$22,643,000
respectively. As stated in note 2, these conditions, along with the matters as set
forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to

continue as a going concern.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 April
2024.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming previously named as Law Ka Ming Michael, aged
63, was appointed as an executive Director on 5 July 2022. Mr. Law has more
than thirty years' experience in construction and property development. In
the past, he took up some key management positions with major Hong Kong
property developers and has held corporate management role in logistic facilities
development companies. He acted as a vice president in KI| Concepts Limited
from 2017 to 2019. He acted as a project director in Kerry Properties China
Limited from 2012 to 2017.

Mr. Law holds a Master's degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and hold a Bachelor degree in Building Studies from Hong
Kong University. He is a Chartered Quantity Surveyor of the Royal Institution of

Chartered Surveyors and a member of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Mr. Law is currently an independent non-executive director of Century Group
International Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2113), Emperor Watch & Jewellery
Limited (Stock code: 887) and Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 907), companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange").
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Mr. Choi Pun Lap (¥7K3Z) (“Mr. Choi"), aged 46, was appointed as our
executive Director on 30 September 2021. He has knowledge in corporate
finance transactions in Hong Kong. He is an executive director of Wuxi Life
International Holdings Group Limited (previously known as Aurum Pacific (China)
Group Limited) (stock code: 8148) and Simplicity Holding Limited (stock code:
8367), both are listed on the GEM. He is an independent non-executive director
of Sunway International Holdings Limited (stock code: 58) which the issued
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and he is also an
independent non-executive director of Shanyu Group Holdings Company Limited
(formally known as Zhao Xian Business Ecology International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8245), which is listed on the GEM. In the past, Mr. Choi was (i) a
senior audit manager in the audit department of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited (“HLB") in Hong Kong and he has worked in HLB for more than ten
years from February 2007 to December 2017, (ii) a principal in an accounting
professional firm practicing in Australia in 2018, (i) was a financial controller
of a company which is listed in GEM in Hong Kong for a number of years since

2019.

Mr. Choi is a valuation practitioner of International Association of Certified
Valuation Specialists since 2019. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a member of Certified Practising Accountants
Australia and a member of Chartered Global Management Accountant. Mr.
Choi graduated from Hong Kong Metropolitan University with a Master of
Law (Chinese Business Law) in Hong Kong in 2017. He obtained a Bachelor of
Business (Accounting) from Central Queensland University in Australia in 2003
and further studied Postgraduate Diploma of Accounting in Monash University in
Australia in 2005.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, aged 4| was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director on 2| October 2021. Mr. Leung has more than |18 years of experience

in finance and asset management.

Mr. Leung received his Bachelor of Science in Risk Management and his Master
of Philosophy in Systems Engineering and Engineering Management from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is currently a certified Financial Risk
Manager (FRM), a certified Environmental, Social and Governance Analyst
(CESGAR), an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered Governance Institute (CGl) in the United
Kingdom.

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan, aged 45, was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director on 21 October 2021. Mr. Hui has over |7 years of working experience

in auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

Mr. Hui holds Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in Applied
Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking & Finance) from Monash

University, Australia. He is also a member of CPA Australia.

Mr. Hui is currently an independent non-executive director of Upbest Group
Limited (stock code: 335), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of Prime Intelligence
Solutions Group Limited (stock code: 8379), a company listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange from 18 January 2018 to |5 December 2021 and Elegance
Optical International Holdings Limited (stock code: 907), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from 31 March 2020 to 9 February 2024.
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Mr. Fu Yan Ming, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director on 21 October 2021. Mr. Fu possess over 30 years of experience
in accounting, audit, internal control, financial management, strategic business
planning, corporate finance, merger and acquisition and corporate governance.
He has worked for various sizeable organizations including accounting
firms, pharmaceutical distribution company, TMT (Technology, Media and
Telecommunications) companies, manufacturing companies and consultancy firm.
During the past |5 years, he held various senior positions including financial
controller and company secretary in main board and GEM listed companies of

Hong Kong.

Mr. Fu is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He obtained a Bachelors’ Degree of Business Administration from

The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fu is currently an independent non-executive director of Wuxi Life
International Holdings Group Limited (previously known as Aurum Pacific (China)
Group Limited) (stock code: 8148), a company listed on the GEM of Stock
Exchange. Mr. Fu was an executive director of Shanyu Group Holdings Company
Limited (formally known as Zhao Xian Business Ecology International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8245), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
from October 2016 to September 2019.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Project director

Mr. YU Shek Man Ringo previously named as YU Shek Man, was the founder of
our Group. He was appointed as our executive Director from 20 May 2015 to
26 July 2017. He was appointed as the chairman of the Board from 4 October
2015 to 26 July 2017. He is a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor degree of Engineering-Civil from Mcgill University
in Canada in November 1982. Mr. Yu has been registered as a Chartered
Engineer with The Engineering Council in the United Kingdom since May 1987.
Mr. Yu has also been a member of the Institution of Structural Engineers in the
United Kingdom since November 1986 and a member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers in the United Kingdom since May 1995. Mr. Yu has become a member
and then a fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since March 1990

and January 2006 respectively.

Mr. Yu has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry in Hong
Kong. Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Yu had accumulated approximately
|9 years of experience in the construction industry in Hong Kong through his
employment in various firms including Vibro Construction Company Limited
(formerly known as Barbican Construction Company, Ltd.) from March 1987
to March 1989 and from November 1990 to June 1996, Ove Arup & Partners
Hong Kong Limited from May 1990 to October 1990, John Connell & Associates
Limited from April 1989 to March 1990, Siu Yin Wai & Associates Limited from
June 1983 to March 1987, and GHD Limited (formerly known as Rankine & Hill
(Hong Kong) Limited) from October 1982 to May [983.

Mr. Yu received the Grand Leadership Award under the Professional Volunteer
Service Accreditation Programme for the session 2013/2014 from The Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, Hong Kong Council of Volunteering and Agency for

Volunteer Service in recognition of his contribution to volunteer service.
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Project Manager

Mr. Lee Ho Cheong (“Mr. Lee”), is our senior project manager who is
responsible for project management and supervision. Mr. Lee joined our Group
n July 2000. He has over 28 years of experience in the construction industry in
Hong Kong. Prior to joining our Group, he had accumulated experience in the
construction industry in Hong Kong through his employment in AECOM Asia
Company Limited (formerly known as Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited) from
July 1999 to July 2000, Vibro (HK.) Limited from August 1997 to July 1999,
AECOM Consulting Services Limited (formerly known as Scott Wilson (Hong
Kong) Limited) from November 1995 to July 1997 and Franki Contractors
Limited from November 1992 to October 1995.

Mr. Lee completed the Construction Supervisor Trainee programme, the
Construction Safety Officer Course, and the Environmental Officer course, all of
which were organised by the Construction Industry Training Authority, in August
1992, January 2004, and March 2007 respectively. He also obtained a certificate
in Civil Engineering Studies through part-time studies from the Haking Wong
Technical Institute (now known as IVE (Haking Wong)) in August 1993 and a
higher certificate in Civil Engineering from Hong Kong Technical Colleges in July
[995. Mr. Lee also completed a safety auditor training scheme organised by the

Construction Industry Council in September 201 1.

R pa—

HE &R
AEERETHEE]D  REMANSRIER
L2 BREAEREREE - MELER-ZZ
ZELAMAREE - RREBRETER
BBFLR  RMAXEEZA - RBBR
—NWNANFLRAZZZEZTF+ ARBRNZE
RERARGIWEE(EN IRERER A
a)  R=ARtENAZE-NAANFLAHB
RER(BB)ERRR - R—ANEF+—A
—ANEFLARBRYZERBERER AR
(AR EER(ER)BRAA)RR—NAZ
F+—RE-NAAEE T B # B ® Franki
Contractors Limited E BB BT EE LR

MEESRR—ANZFENAR  ZTTWE—
AR—EZLF=ARKEBARERIRB
BROETIEREIEHE  BIL2TER
BRERIARE - RN —AN=ZF/N\AR
BERBEARRBRIXER(RARATEEX
YEBRERBEAR DB LAIREEELRN
—“NWNAEE+ABEATIREMERMELA
TRRREE - FIRETR_F——FNA%
KEEXSER PN T2 ERRITIIEE -



Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM (the "GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to present
hereby the corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 30

April 2024 (the “Year").

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the importance
of sound corporate governance to the long-term success and continuing
development of the Group. Therefore, the Board takes the view that good
corporate standards and procedures, so as to improve the accountability system
and transparency of the Group, protect the interests and create value for

Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"), except the followings in
Appendix |5 of the GEM Listing Rules save for the deviation from code provision

A.2.1 explained below.

Code provision A2.7 — The chairman should at least annually hold meetings
with the independent non-executive directors without the presence of other
directors. No chairman was appointed during the Year, no such meeting could

be arranged during the Year.

Due to the presence of three independent non-executive Directors which
represent half of the Board, the Board considers that there is a balance of power

and authority such that no one individual has unfettered power of decision.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted a code of provisions of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors the (“Code of Conduct”) on terms no less exacting
than the required standards of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, all Directors

have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in

the Code of Conduct during the year ended 30 April 2024.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting

terms than the Code of Conduct for the Year.

The Board has established the Group's purpose, values and strategy, and has
satisfied itself that the Group's culture is aligned. Acting with integrity and leading
by example, the Directors promote the desired culture to instill and continually
reinforce across the Group the values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.
The Group has adopted anticorruption and whistleblowing policy to provide
forums for reporting issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to uphold

business integrity in its operations.

The Group is committed to seeking progress while maintaining stability and
strives to improve operational efficiency and strengthen the risk control
measures. Effective risk control will remain as the core competitiveness and
investment highlight of the Group, while the Group will strive to extend
its business to explore business opportunities. A healthy corporate culture
is important to good corporate governance, which is crucial for achieving

sustainable long-term success of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Comeposition of the Board

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five Directors,
including two executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors (“INED(s)"). In particular, the composition of the Board is set out as

follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming previously named as Law Ka Ming Michael
Mr. Choi Pun Lap

Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan

Mr. Fu Yan Ming

The Board has the necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging
their duties as Directors in the best interests of the Company and that the
current board size is adequate for its present operations. Each Director keeps
abreast of his responsibility as the Director and of the conduct, business activities

and development of the Company.
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The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group's overall
strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of management
performance. The management is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the management and administration of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further details of the Board
Committees are set out in this annual report. Pursuant to the terms of reference,
the duties performed by the Board in respect of corporate governance are as

follows:

[. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance

of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on compliance

with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees;

5. to review the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure in the

corporate governance report of the Company; and

6.  to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be contained in the constitution of the Company or imposed

by the GEM Listing Rules or applicable laws.

Saved as disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report, there is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior

management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rules 5.05(1) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board
consisted of three INEDs during the year ended 30 April 2024, During the year
ended 30 April 2024, the number of INEDs represents more than one-third of
the Board. At least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or

accounting or related financial management expertise.

The functions of independent non-executive directors are primarily to bring an
independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,

resources, key appointments and standards of conducts at board meetings.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Current independent non-executive directors have made an annual confirmation
of independence by reference to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Company considers that all independent non-executive directors were

independent.

APPOINTMENT RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All the directors, including independent non-executive directors, are appointed
for terms of three years. All the directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the articles of association of the

Company (the “Articles”).

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. However, the

retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article |12 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the

Company after their appointment and be subject to reelection at such meeting.
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RESPONSIBILITIES AND ACCOUNTABILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company, and is

collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group's operational and financial performance, and

ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient

and effective functioning.

The INEDs are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting
of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective

independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses for discharging their duties to the

Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by

them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of the Company

are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage

would be reviewed on an annual basis.
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RELATIONSHIPS AND ASSOCIATION AMONG THE DIRECTORS
There was no relationships between members of the Board, including financial,

business, family or other material/relevant relationships.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal
control system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always
encouraged our Directors to attend relevant training courses to receive the

latest news and knowledge regarding corporate governance.

During the Year, the Group has provided all existing Directors training material
on the updates of the GEM Listing Rules concerning good corporate governance
practices. The Group will, if necessary, provide timely and regular training
material to the Directors to ensure that they keep abreast with the current

requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Up to the date of this corporate governance report, the Company adopted a
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing and
amended with effect from | January 2019. A summary of this Board Diversity
Policy, together with the measureable objectives set for implementing this Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards achieving those objectives are

disclosed as below.

The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the Board's composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of measurable aspects
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, all of which the
Company considers to be important to enhance the quality of its performance.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regards for the benefits of

diversity on the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for
approval. The Nomination Committee will from time to time review the Board

Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee of the Board has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved the

Board Diversity Policy for the year ended 30 April 2024.

As at the date of this report, the diversity of Board's composition was

summarised as follow:
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According to the Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board shall have a
policy concerning diversity of board members. As a transitional arrangement,
issuers with a single gender board will have to appoint at least a director of a
different gender on the board no later than 31 December 2024. The nomination
committee (including the Company) is looking for a right person especially with

a gender of female in accordance with the policies of our nomination committee.
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The attendance of the respective Directors at the Board meetings, committee RESHFESTEEE ZE88aK_F
meetings and the 2023 AGM are set out in the table below: CEERRBFRGOLHEHIINTR

Number of meetings SR 5 5 2
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy' REZHL! M N/A 5/5 22 11
Mr. Choi Pun Lap B RE /1 N/A 5/5 N/A N/A
Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming BRALE 1 N/A 5/5 N/A N/A
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

Directors
Mr. Fu Yan Ming HRRELE /1 5/5 5/5 22 /1
Mr. Hui Man Ho van? TR EAE? /1 5/5 5/5 22 N/A
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip REERE 11 5/5 5/5 212 171
L Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy resigned as an Executive Director on |5 March 2024 : BT HTHR T -_NF=ATAHETH

TEE -

2 Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan appointed as member of Remuneration Committee on |5 - HERER—E_NE=ATHBEZHE
March 2024. REHRBEMKE
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BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The CG Code requires regular meeting of the Board be held at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such Board meetings involve the active
participation, either in person or by telephone conference. Under code provision
C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular
board meeting to all Directors to give all Directors an opportunity to attend.
Certain regular Board meetings were convened with less than |4 days' notice to
enable the Board members to react timely and make expeditious decision making
in respect of transactions which were of significance to the Group's businesses.
As a result, the Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period than
required with the consent of all the Directors for that time being. The Board
will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement of code provision C.5.3 of
the CG Code in future. Adequate and appropriate information is circulated in
advance of Board meetings to the directors. During the Year, no meeting was
held between the Chairman met and the INEDs. The Company utilises telephone

conferencing for Directors who are not able to attend in person.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings are drafted by
the secretary of the meetings and recorded in sufficient details the matters
considered and decisions reached, with draft and final versions being circulated
to the Directors for their comments and records within reasonable time after
the meetings are held. The company secretary of the Company (the “"Company
Secretary”) who kept the original minutes, are open for inspection at any

reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with
by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution. That Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or any of
his/her associates has a material interest and that he/she shall not be counted in

the quorum present at such Board meeting.

During the year ended 30 April 2024, five board meetings were held. The annual
general meeting of the Company was held on 28 September 2023 (the “2023
AGM™).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is entrusted with the duty to put in place a proper corporate
governance structure of the Company. It is primarily responsible for setting
directions, formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing the risks

of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees in compliance with
the relevant GEM Listing Rules and to assist the Board to discharge its duties.
Currently, three committees have been established, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The functions and
responsibilities of these committees have been set out in the relevant terms
of reference which are of no less stringent than that stated in the Code. The
relevant terms of reference of each of the three committee can be found on
the Group's website (http://www.zjuv8366. com) and the website of the Stock
Exchange. All committees have been provided with sufficient resources and

support from the Group to discharge their duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established on 4 October 2015 and adopted a
set of revised written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraphs D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the Code. During
the Year and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee is comprised of

the following Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fu Yan Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Hui Man Ho lvan
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor, evaluating
the overall effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems,
reviewing the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
other financial reporting matters and ensuring the completeness, accuracy and
fairness of the financial statements, monitoring compliance with statutory and

listing requirements and overseeing the relationship with the external auditors.
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The Audit Committee reviews the quarterly, interim and annual reports before
submission to the Board. At least one member has an appropriate professional
qualification or accounting or related financial management expertise. The Audit
Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies
and practices but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and the legal requirements during the review of the Company's

quarterly, interim and annual reports.

Senior representatives of the external auditor, executive Directors and senior
executives are invited to attend the meetings, if required. Each of the Audit
Committee members has unrestricted access to the Group's external auditor and

the management.

The Audit Committee supervises internal investigation and reviewing the anti-
corruption policy and system and the whistleblowing policy and systems and
other arrangements for employees of the Company to raise concerns about

possible improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

Summary of works

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the Year. The attendance of
each member is set out on p.29. During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed
the financial reporting matters including the quarterly, interim and annual results,
made recommendations to the Board on the terms of engagement and audit
plannings, and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems, and its other duties in accordance with the Audit

Committee’s written terms of reference.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been established on 14 October 2015 with
its terms of reference in compliance with paragraph E.I.2 of the Code. During
the Year and up to the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee is

comprised of the following members:

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Yan Ming

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan (appointed on I5 March 2024)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (resigned on |5 March 2024)
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REMUNERATION POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group's emolument policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Group. The remunerations of the Directors are determined with reference
to the economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities and duties

assumed by each Director as well as their individual performance.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in the

section headed “Share Option Scheme" of this report.

Summary of works

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year. The
Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group
and the remuneration packages of all the Directors, reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of the proposed
Directors in accordance with the Remuneration Committee's written terms of

reference.

No material matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration

Committee during the Reporting Period.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee has been established on 4 October 2015 and the
Company adopted a set of revised written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B.3.] of the Code which included changes in line with the
requirements of the CG Code. During the Year and up to the date of this

report, the Nomination Committee is comprised of the following members:

Mr. Fu Yan Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (resigned on |5 March 2024)

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan and Mr. Fu Yan Ming who are INEDs.
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The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the followings:

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's

corporate strategy;

to review the Company's board diversity policy and the progress on

achieving the objectives set for implementing the said policy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships;
to assess the independence of INEDs; and

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in

particular the chairman and the chief executive.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any proposed

candidate to the Board or reappointment of any existing member(s) of the

Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a variety of factors including

without limitation the following in assessing the suitability of the proposed

candidate:

d.

Reputation for integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company's business and corporate

strategy.

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board

member and other directorships and significant commitments.
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d. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

e. Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company's business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The Nomination Committee may consider other factors so to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company's business. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers

appropriate.

Summary of works

The members of the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a
year. Two meetings of the Nomination Meeting were held and have, inter
alia, reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the INEDs and considered the Directors to retire and stand
for re-election at the 2023 AGM. The Nomination Committee has also reviewed
the board diversity policy as set out in the paragraph headed “Board Diversity

Policy” above.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group acknowledges the impact of its works to its employees, the
community and the environment. Together with its employees and staffs from
its subcontractors and suppliers, the Group's emissions and waste generation
are strictly controlled and monitored. As required for all construction sites,
the Group complies with the following environmental laws and ordinance, all
emissions and waste generated during operation are strictly controlled and

monitored.

Further discussions on the Group's environmental policies and our relationship
with various stakeholders are covered in the Environmental, Social and

Governance report on page 47 of the 2024 Annual Report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant to
which the Company may distribute by way of (i) cash or (ii) shares as may be
determined by the board of directors of the Company from time to time. The

profit distribution policy of the Company is:

(a)  Profit distribution policy of the Company shall achieve continuity, stability

and sustainability;

(b)  The Company targets a payout ratio with balance on distribution of profits

and profits retained for business operation and future development;

(c)  Profit distribution of the Company shall take into account:
(i)  the earnings per share of the Company;

(i)  the reasonable return in investment of the investors and the
shareholders in order to provide incentive to them to continue to

support the Company in their long-term development;
(iii) ~ the financial conditions and business plan of the Company; and

(iv) the market sentiment and circumstances.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established (i) policy and measures that promote and support
anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (ii) whistleblowing policy and measures
for employees, suppliers and business partners to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any
matter related to the Group. For further details of the Group's anti-corruption
and whistleblowing policy and/or measures, please refer to the section headed
anti-corruption policies and compliance of the Environmental, Social and

Governance Report on page 47 of this report.
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AUDITOR

On 23 June 2022, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) resigned as
the auditor of the Group and Fan, Chan & Co. Limited (“Fan Chan") has been
appointed as the new auditor of the Group to fill the causal vacancy following
the resignation of Elite Partners and will continue as such until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The annual consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year have been audited by Fan Chan. The
auditor’s responsibilities for the Group's financial statements are set out in the

Independent Auditor's Report on pages 86 to 93 of this report.

The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating the external auditor of the

Group including but not limited to their independence and objectivity.

The fees of the external auditor of the Group for audit services amounted to

HK$400,000 and no non-audit services was incurred for the Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary is subject
to approval by the Board in accordance with the Articles of Association and
CG Code. Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (“Ms. Lai"), an executive director, has been
appointed as the company secretary of the Company, and Ms. Lai was resigned
on |5 March 2024 and Mr. Choi Pun Lap (“Mr. Choi"), an executive director was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company on |5 March 2024.

During the Year, both Ms. Lai and Mr. Choi have undertaken not less than |5
hours of relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM

Listing Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledge that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS
The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of the

members in the framework are described as follows:

Board of directors

= a

O

BIREE R AR
EZERNEGEAREERABEZZSR
RIRETER - ZEHIEE E% ﬁﬁ#}ﬁﬁa‘\ﬁ
FEREHEG AR BEERRUEBER
KERLHIBR C ARBFBHORE

EREERAPEERAGNEIERH

ARBEVRBREERBEUREBASKENE
EREHRMMT :

BoardAleel Audit Committee
EECEM EZLEE

I

General Manager/

. Management of
Senior Management level

Subsidiaries
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Member Main Responsibilities
K& TERE
The Board ®  Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and

extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;

BERg o FUEREERBARZ FERETEXREISEARESARNEARLEE MEE;

®  Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal

control systemS' and

s RBURAREERNNEREENANBEZERR,

. Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems

annually.

© tﬂf /\/\NTJ_L EIE&W_LBQ?I%/}Lmﬁ)&UE

Audit Committee ®  Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of
the risk management and internal control systems;

BEZZR MEEFSERARKT - EREE RAMDEE R R REERR;

1115>

. Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective
systemS'

. EERNWAREERANEZRAS RREEECETRERLAMNEL,

o Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and

has a proper position, review and supervise its performance;

o HERABEZREARHEREE LABEE O, Rt RERERN;

®  Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk

management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

o EHAKEERNSREARRLEREEZRM ELEREFHEBRRE;

o Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to

the Board on a regular basis;

s TEHREFEERAKENRBARREFRIXTENER
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Member Main Responsibilities
K& TERE

| Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant

accountable persons to implement risk assessment;

o EPEBREENFG YERREEBEEARTRAREIE:

®  Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the

group level;

s HABYHIREEENEREEBAER:

c Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;

o EHEARRFEHERZERBRERRE

] Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions
made or actions adopted by relevant organizations or individuals beyond the
risk management system;

o EHEARREESR HEMEZERASHEAREREERGAIMEL IR
RAKIETTA -

®  Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and
projects to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the
group level, summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and
various risk management reports; and

e %EW@AAH%%i%ﬂﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬂh%ﬂﬂﬂﬁl
fE X HERESETEANMMER AR GRS RERERRS |

®  Carry out risk management for other major issues.

o HHMBEAFHETRERER -
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THE PROCESS USED TO IDENTIFY, ASSESS AND MANAGEMENT OF ARER - FEREBREARARNER

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows:

Risk identification
[ENbE %l

Risk analysis

Risk response

e e

Control measures

P e

Risk control

=
5
B
[mes

Risk management report

RRERRS

AEBZRBEERFBMMT :

identify the current risks confronted.

0l B AT E R AR ©

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of

occurrence.

HYERE BN EIDETRRI o

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation

strategy
BRI E A e Y 5 3 5 7 P e ) SR o

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.

Fic 5 25 A 0 42 ol 4 e IR R AR o

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal
control measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response
strategy.

FEEAC AR R EEARER A RMEITEE - RERE RS RO AN
E1T

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit,

formulate and report an action plan.

BERBRFEINTRARETNER - SIETDE BILMAER -

The Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of internal control to AEECDEEEENADELRER Q8T SR
perform regular review of the internal control system of the Group for the Year TAREERAFERADELEZRL - LR
and the results were summarised and reported to the Audit Committee and the REBRTREZLZESNEEERE - EFS
Board. The Board will continue to strive for a better control by way of consulting HT}ZJQZEL}@=: HEEERTEMNARRENE

with the professional adviser and adopting the recommendations made by the » FEVE IR | o

firm.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the Group's
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view. The responsibility
of Auditor in respect of the Group's consolidated financial statements are set

out in the independent auditor's report forming part of this annual report.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. The Directors are
aware that the net liabilities, loss and operating cash outflow for the year ended
30 April 2024 which indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern as
referred to D.I.3 of the CG Code.

In respect of the material uncertainty related to going concern, the Directors
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and
implemented some measures in order to improve the working capital, liquidity
and cash flow position of the Group, details are set out in note 2.3 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The Auditor draw attention to note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$0.35
million during the year ended 30 April 2024 and, as of that date, the Group
had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$23.20 million
and HK$22.64 million respectively. These conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. More information is set out in note 2.3 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of Inside Information in respect
of procedures and internal control for the handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner pursuant to rule 17.10 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the Inside Information Provision under Part XIVA of the Securities and

Futures Ordinance.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the Year, the related party transactions, if any, are periodically reviewed

and approved by the Audit Committee.

REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT
For the year ended 30 April 2024, the remuneration of the senior management

is listed below by band:
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Number of
Remuneration band individuals
e E AH
HK$nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T ITZE1,000,000/8 7T 7

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,000,001 7 7L 22,000,000 7T -

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid individuals for the
Year as regarded to be disclosed pursuant to the Code are provided in note 12

to the consolidated financial statements in this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements and to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which reflects the true and
fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flows of the Group and are in
compliance with the relevant accounting standards and principles, applicable laws
and disclosure provisions required of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors are
of the view that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each

financial year have been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern after having considered the
financial support from holding company. More information is set out in note
2.3 to the consolidated financial statements, therefore the Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial

statements.

Statement of the Company's external Auditor’s responsibility in respect of the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report

of this report.

GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy to maintain
an on-going dialogue with its shareholders and investors in a timely, open and
transparent manner. The Board reviews the policy on a regular basis to ensure

effective communication between the Company, its shareholders and investors.

The Board communicates with its shareholders and investors through various
channels. The Board meets and communicates with shareholders and investors at
annual general meetings and other general meetings. Corporate communications
(such as quarterly, interim and annual reports, notices, circulars and
announcements) are sent to shareholders in a timely manner and are available

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit,
convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). EGMs shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose
of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
acquisition(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the

requisition(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders’ Nomination of Directors

Pursuant to article |13 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director,
shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of
the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the head office or at the registration office of the Company. The period for
lodgment of the notices required under the Articles will commence no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the

Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries concerning their shareholdings to the
Company's share registrars. Shareholders may also make a request for the
Company's information to the extent that such information has been made
publicly available by the Company. All written enquiries or requests may be

forwarded to the Company's head office or by email to info@zjuvholdings.com.

The addresses of the Company's head office and the Company's share registrars

can be found in the section “Corporate Information” of this annual report.
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Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures to investors, the Group
delivers information of the Group to the public through various channels,
including general meeting, public announcement and financial reports. The
investors are also able to access the latest news and information of the Group

via our website (http://www.zjuv8366.com).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the Company together
with the Board extend their invitation to all shareholders and encourage them to

attend the forthcoming AGM and all future general meetings.

The shareholders may also forward their enquiries and suggestions in writing to

the Company to the followings:

Address:  Unit A6-D, 12/F,, Block A
Hong Kong Industrial Centre
489-491 Castle Peak Road
Lai Chi Kok

Kowloon
Email: info@zjuvholdings.com
Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 30 April 2024, there was no significant changes in the

constitutional documents of the Company.
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. ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting Scope

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (“this
ESG Report”) summarises the ESG performance of Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (“the Company” or “the
Group") during the period from | May 2023 to 30 April 2024 (“the
Reporting Period").

This ESG report illustrates and highlights the material activities in
respect of corporate social responsibility of the Group's core and
material business, which is landslip prevention and stabilisation
works to the man-made slopes and natural hillside catchments, and
foundation works and general building works for the government and
the private sector. All of these activities took place in Hong Kong,

including the group office, site offices and construction sites.

The Group has taken initiatives to formulate ESG related policies,
implement the necessary data collection, performance monitoring
measures and documentation in order to optimise and improve
the disclosure in this ESG Report, in the hope that this report
demonstrates the Group's continuous effort in achieving sustainable

development for now and also in to the future.
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. ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

I.2.  ESG Reporting Framework and Principles

This ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG

Reporting Guide (the

the GEM Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, including

provisions and the mandatory disclosure requirements.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group's business
strategy in order to achieve business excellence and enhance B 5B
capabilities for long-term competitiveness. We are committed
to operating in a manner that is economically, socially and
environmentally sustainable while balancing the interests of our

various stakeholders and fostering a positive impact on the society.

“comply or explain”

I BRAREE)
2. BE - #EBREAREERRER
TRE  HEREARE HRER

"ESG Guide”) contained in Appendix C2 of BHE R 5 AR AR GEME %

THRAIMERC2RECRE g

RERBERIDIRE HER
BRAREESDER 2R 1TE
TR RSB R ERTE o

IRERRANEERXBRBOA
7 BABRGER L= 8K
HRRTH R RERT RS -

HABNALE - L& RRE AR

BNTAEE  ARNRESRHDN
MM YAHETREGTE -

Reporting Principles

BERY

How it is applied to this report

W RE PR AR i e

Materiality

EEH

The ESG Report includes ESG issues that are determined
by the Board of Directors, with the assistance of the
management and ESG working group that are above
the threshold at which they are sufficiently important to
investors and other stakeholders to be reported. These
material ESG issues were identified through consideration
and discussion by the Board of Directors and the ESG
working group, and also through the discussions in
the normal course of engagement with the different
stakeholders. Further detail of the identification process
and the selection criteria are set out in the “Stakeholder
Engagement and Materiality Assessment” section.

BE HERERRESERMESSRERENRS #HEk
EATE MR TEENRE HENEREE  M%FE
HEBHREENEMFNENS THOERNME - L FIAE
K AFENRE HENEARFEAEZERRE #HER
BT MEZE LR UREBRFE2EBRETBNFR
DEETHREET - BRBRLRERENE - SFEER
[(HhELERESMTE ] -
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued) . BRERESE)
I.2.  ESG Reporting Framework and Principles (Continued) 12. BB HEREAREEERER
(%)
Reporting Principles How it is applied to this report
wERA nAERARNARE
Quantitative The KPIs in respect of historical data described in the

ESG Report are measured by the Company. Targets
set are either in terms of actual numerical figures, or
directional statements or forward-looking statements to
reduce a particular impact related to each of the KPIs. The
effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems
can hence be evaluated and validated. Each quantitative
information is accompanied by a narrative, explaining its
purpose, impacts, and comparative data are given where
appropriate. Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation used, and source of key
emission and conversion factors used for both quantitative
environmental and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG
Report where appropriate. Refer to the explanations
accompanied the relevant KPIs for further detail.

Bt RE  HERERRETHINERENERBERERAR
ﬂﬁ%oﬂiﬁ%ﬁgXﬁ?~%ﬁﬁ%§%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%’
WRLE X RRREMESNEELE  #NFhRRE
B HENEAHRREEAROARILE - Rﬁzkéﬂ%ﬁ
S REERORPE  YHEBERRHELRME - R5 -
HELERRETREERECRE LM SRREMERNER
& HE BRR/IAHETENEN  ARBRERRAE
RAEORR(HER) - ELFHE - FEHAMAEBARREN
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. ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
I.2.  ESG Reporting Framework and Principles (Continued)

I BRERRE )
12 B HEREAREERREA
(&)

Reporting Principles

RERA

How it is applied to this report

mERRARES

Balance

Consistency

—H

The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the
Company's performance during the Reporting Period by
disclosing information in an objective manner, avoiding
contents that may inappropriately influence the judgement
made by report readers, i.e. bias selections, omissions, or
present in a format that deliberately misrepresentation
reality.

B @ REARENBRERE R M2 RAR AR
B ARBNTAREEN  BRAURETREHTEREE
ENHE - NERRR  BERAEZRBANBEHEE -

Methodologies used is consistent so as to allow for
meaningful comparison of ESG data over time. Any changes
that could affect a meaningful comparison of the KPIs have
been disclosed accordingly

ER-BHOZA  FRE  HENERBBARAEEEEN
HR - AR ETE %ﬁ MERNAEELBNETCHE
HARERE -
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

1.3

ESG Governance

ESG oversight

The Board aims to provide stakeholders with an understanding
of the overall ESG governance structure of the Company. The
Board acknowledges its role of oversight of ESG issues through the
consideration and discussion of ESG issues in board meetings. In this
section the Board will further explain its ESG management approach
and strategy, including the process used to evaluate, prioritise, and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer's
businesses), and how it reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they related to the

Company's business.

ESG management approach and strategy

To ensure cohesion with existing business strategies and processes,
the Board aligns its ESG management approach and strategy with
our existing governance (i.e. risk management and internal controls
system) framework. The ESG-related risks are therefore evaluated,
prioritise, and managed as part of the existing processes of this
governance framework, so that ESG-related risks are managed just as

effective as those which are not ESG-related.

1.3

BREHE (&)

B HERERNEREE

RE HERELNEE
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. ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

1.3

ESG Governance (Continued)
ESG management approach and strategy (Continued)

Through an integrated, dual top-down and bottom-up approach,
risks identified at each level of defense are discussed, evaluated and
prioritise at that level as well as between the other levels. Hence,
in formulating our sustainability we take not only the principle of
sustainability seriously, we also take into careful consideration various
risk including legal compliance, operational, finance and also the
opinions from stakeholders. We have established and implemented
various policies to manage and monitor the risks related to the
environment, employment, operating practices and community.
Details of the management approaches to sustainable development

of different areas are illustrated in this Report.

ESG-related goals and targets progress review

Material ESG-related issues are issues that are critical to both short-
term and long-term success of the Company's business. It is those
parts of the Company's business where these issues lie, the ESG
impact of these issues is highly relevant. The KPIs of material ESG-
related issues are regularly reviewed against goals and targets set-
up by the Management and the Board, with the assistance of ESG
working group, throughout the process of the preparing of ESG
reporting to determine progress made and made adjustment and

revisions to the original goals and targets where appropriate.

R EEEE

EEEEEE

~ 2 T B ;|

BREHE (&)

1.3
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. ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

1.4.

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment

Stakeholder engagement is essential for the Group to understand
its stakeholders' thoughts and concerns and it also helps to identify
risks and opportunities regarding the Group's performance, business
strategies and future development. Although no specific stakeholder
engagement has been conducted, internal and external stakeholders
have been involved in various regular activities to exchange thoughts
and ideas regarding its operations and performance. Hence, the
Group communicates to its stakeholders throughout the year
through various events and activities to collect ideas and feedback

that are valuable to its future growth.

BRARE (&)

|.4.

FOESRREEMIME

ROENSEHNAKETRER
DENBEREIHEBER 7T
BEORBABEAARERR - X5
SR B R R R 07 T O L e e
B BEYTEETARRENES
B BARRISRNELETE
BERLY URBHALEZE
REROEE - At - ARE2F
ERTREHLEDEESNER
B WEHERRERAEENE
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ERRE o

Stakeholder Group
FoEER

Approach of Engagement

SR

Community Corporate website
Announcements and notices
Financial statements/ESG information
#HE yNGFEI

NEREH

MBBRE/BE  LERELEN

Customers Corporate website
Contracts and agreements
Service meetings
Comments and complaint channels
Industrial channels’ communications and activities
EF NGIEE
CLLYE:
RBeH
BERARKRHFRE
EROBALE
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I.  ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued) . BARA®RE#)
|4, Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment (Continued) 14 BORESEREEMTMEE)
Employees Orientations, trainings and meetings

Performance appraisals

Notices and circulars

Emails and other electronic communications
3= W Jll ke

KF

BRI BEN

EBREMEFEA

Government and Regulators Corporate website
Financial statements/ESG information
Announcements and notices
BRREE#RE GIE D
MBHK/RE HERERER
RERBA
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1.4.

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment (Continued)
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I BRF®EE)
4. BOESEREEMFTME(E)

Stakeholder Group
BoEER

Approach of Engagement

EL R

Investors and Shareholders

REERRR

Suppliers and Business Partners

Annual general meeting and notices
Announcements and notices
Corporate website

Financial statements/ESG information
Investors briefings
BRREFAERES

RERBAM

NGIEEV

MBHRK/RE HERELGEN
REEER

Business meetings, supplier conferences and interviews
Contracts and agreements

Industrial channels’ communications and activities
Quotations and tendering process

Subcontractor's/Supplier’s appraisal

HEFREERH HEGE HERNgGAREHK
BRI R
ERNBARED
BERARRER
PEH/HERER

Feedback 15 K&

Your comments and feedbacks regarding the Group's performance
and approach on ESG aspects are valuable to its continuous
improvement and sustainability, please send your questions,

suggestions and recommendations to the Group as below:

Address: Unit A6-D, 12/F, Block A, Hong Kong Industrial Centre,
489-491 Castle Peak Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

Email: info@zjuvholdings.com.

ATABAEERE  HERkER
TENERRREENERRR
BHASENTEES MATHEL
WeYE - HTURHE BER
MEBRAEALKE  FEWT

wit: BEAEZEASLE
489549 EEBELED
DA BA6DE »

EH : info@zjuvholdings.com °
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE 2. BEEN
The Group is committed to conducting its works in an environmentally REBBNNURRNAABAEAET
friendly manner. As stipulated in the Group's sustainable management B RBEAEE T - NFUEBEELR
strategy 2019, environmental protection and sustainable development are EERBOAT  REREREER
the management’s responsibility. Its environmental management system BRRAEEEMEM HERBEBEZLE
has been certified with the ISO 14001:2004, reflecting its commitment EISO 1400120043238 - RBEF IE
in preventing pollution, reducing waste, and meeting applicable legal and S ROBEYRETEREIERIRE
environmental requirements. In response to the growing demand on REELEHES - AOERBH RS
preventing pollution in the construction industry, the Group continues to TEERSLAEBREMNE X KEE
improve on its performance. BESEHEY -
2.1. Emissions Policies and Compliance 2. HEBBRRERER
The Group acknowledges the impact of its works to its employees, REERRETIZEYHERES (&
the community and the environment. Together with its employees RIRBIHERTE - KEEER
and staffs from its subcontractors and suppliers, the Group's DEEREERNHES M E T&EK
emissions and waste generation are strictly controlled and monitored. VRGBSR TE M HE ) R
As required for all construction sites, the Group complies with the Mo BEHMARETHHEN
following environmental laws and ordinance, all emissions and waste REBETUATIRELEZRIE -
generated during operation are strictly controlled and monitored. BRI I BS 41 & HARR EE AR MV F
BHERY R EREY) -

Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
ERTRE O (BB EPIE 311 E)
Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BEEEDE D) (FEZDIE 466 )
Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
REZEFO RO (BRZHIF499E)
Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BREEREP (BB ZHIFE400E)
Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter |32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
RRHEERTRIEO)NEAEZHE 132F)
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BYEE KO)(B/EZ0|% 354 E)
Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
TTRE RGP (B/EZHIE 358 E)

R pa—
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued) 2. BRE&NE)

2.2.  Carbon Footprint — Greenhouse Gas Emissions 22. BEREH-BRERBHR
Carbon footprint generated by the Group will be disclosed in this RREBEEAEBMELS R
report. Carbon footprint is defined as the total amount of direct and WY - RN ETHTEALE
indirect emissions of greenhouse gas (“GHG") expressed in terms of RERERENEEREEZE
equivalent amount of carbon dioxide (“"CO,-¢") emission. EREZgttRE=([Z48t

REEHNHERERTR) -
The total net GHG emissions* generated by the Group was 71.95 REBFMEANEEREF WA
(2023: 114.17) tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO -e") B ATIN(ZEZ=F114.17)
(mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide). With the Mo_gREE((W_atixs
Group's total operations area of 302.04 (2023: 302.04) square metre ENEER-GMLR TRk —
("m?"), the emission intensity was 0.24 (2023: 0.38) tCO,-e/m* and SIt-R) - WAEEREERE
1.0 (2023: 1.21) tCO,-e per capita. 30204(Z2 =% : 30204) ¥ A
RIFEFKRDE HREBEERE
FHAR0U(ZFZ=F:038)M
“R{HEE - ABHHER 0
(Z2Z=F: 120 _8(KE
= o
The following table highlights the year on year comparison of the TRIEASE BRI EF
Group's carbon footprint: LB
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
GHG* GHG*
Sources of emissions emissions
Scope  GHG emissions (in tCO,-e) Distribution  (in tCO,-e) Distribution change
BERE" RERE
Be R (LARE BER (AN
(44 — &b
HE BERBHBOLR EE83) kil EE:) vk 23
| Mobile — Gasoline % &) — Ui 7.99 11.10% 11.45 10.03% -30.22%
2 Purchased electricity HBEE 63.97 88.90% 102.71 89.97% -37.72%
3 Other Emissions* ~ EAHFR* NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER
Total GHG emissions* BERBHRGE~ 71.95 114.17 -36.98%
Emission intensity HrmE s (&1t 0.24 038 -36.84%

(tCO,-e/m?)

REE/FHK)

b7
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued) 2. BEE&ENE)
2.2.  Carbon Footprint — Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Continued) 2.2. EﬁﬁFHE% BERBHEKRE)

* The contribution from scope 3 GHG emissions have been relatively * HEE RHE2ALL  #E3
small year-on-year compared to scope | and 2. For the sake of cost- BREREEHMEL EEEY
effectiveness it has been excluded from the carbon accounting of the BN B ARBZHNZERE
total emissions since the beginning of the current year. HEEARFEREIERESRE

EMIEEZ -

# The GHG is calculated according to the ‘Guidelines to Account # EERETRIERERES
for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for PHETRELFTIEY
7 IX

(BAREM(BX  EEX
REAR)NBERBIEN
FRBRa R EMRERES)

Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong
Kong' jointly published by Environmental Protection Department and

Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

iAE -
The Group strives it best to incorporate sustainability into its AEEBBERIER  ERK
environmental management system by reducing, reusing and BRREBANEBKELPEANGE
recycling energy, natural resources and materials being used in R BRAERRME M&E&m,\
business operations, and improving its environmental performance. BRIEEN - UEBATHERREMN
To reduce GHG emissions, the Group has adopted various energy REEEZG - RAVEER %T}F
saving measures including deployment of energy-saving lightings, W AREEERAZ A -
switching off idle lightings, air-conditioning, computers and electrical BREERGEREA  BHARER
appliances and equipment, monitoring water consumption, using of Bzl BRARESRERE
digital technology and recycled paper, encouraging the use of public EZRKE - RREBRILEE
transport and using tele or video conferencing as an alternative to % BRERAMETBRIAREA
business travels. BTHEIBREERERE -
While water usage is included in the management fee and hence RAKEBER BN BitEx
unable to easily quantify, electricity usage is also shared with other BHEL - 739\\ EENEEMA
tenants and hence difficult to apportion the fair usage amount Fol ARBARKREERATS
for the Group and therefore it has chosen not to be disclosed. A& HEETTRE - BEN
Nonetheless office operations only contributes an insignificant bt MATECEELMTTED
amount of total accountable GHG emissions and hence the impact BREREY 51 HEERRE
on the overall CHG emission is negligible. It is noteworthy that the REBHHOTER 2Bt - B
electricity and water used in some construction sites were provided EBHIR - :E:FL ETHMAE
by the main contractors, so the related data was not available for KT AR R - Eit - 187
GHG calculation. However, the Group will continue to work with %UF DERRGTERERE - A
the main contractors for more data collection to set quantifiable CAEERESREARES
targets for reducing GHG emissions. f'F WEEZHBUAERTEAEL

BiR  BAREREHM -

R pa—
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

23

2. RREN#)

Air Emission 23 ERNERY
Dust or respirable suspended particulates (“RSP") generated by BETHESELENERETRA
the activities in construction sites could contribute to local air SR T ([ IR ABFR T | e
pollution. The Group complies with the Air Pollution Control SRR c AEEETERT
Ordinance (Cap. 311) and its subsidiary regulations, particularly PEEEG(E3ZE)RENBR
the Air Pollution Control (Open Burning), (Construction Dust) and Bl FRRERSEERI(BRR
(Smoke) Regulations. With the Group’s environmental protection B) (BEIRBER)R(ER)R
management policy, appropriate and effective air pollution control is fl - REAEENRERESIER
executed in its construction sites. Preventive measures including risk FoOAEENAERETHWEREE
assessment before project commencement, protective fencing during MAME RS AT - JEBIEE
project duration and automatic water sprinkler to suppress dust BIEAIER FBRETRRE TG -
generation are used to prevent RSP matters from dispersing into the NIEEETHRERHEER LS
atmosphere. Since the Group’s work does not require any burning of EBKES - WRPEBLREG LY
fuels or the use of volatile chemical substance, related air emission 1FR] IR A B R B B B KR
or pollution is not significant. o RAEERN TRBAMET
fATPRE S e RIS LB E -
igz 3 ElNet: ksl ok = e S
ALPERX o
Another major source of air emission was from the use of gasoline S—BEATERRSENEERE
and diesel-powered motor vehicles for transportation. Motor REE R R hE) BT
vehicles, especially the diesel-powered, emit a considerable amount B o HBERARERAZ 52
of pollutants into the atmosphere. As emission control is essential to ) ERIRLERE N IRE o AN
reduce the impacts of air pollution to the environment, the Group GNEE 2L 0k 3 €N N Lk S
will continue to consider the possibility of implementing more BN EZHEE  ARAERB
energy efficient vehicles to minimise the air emissions generated by BMEEZEBTER A RERNAE
transportation. 1 URERSBREENTRS
2o
2024 2023
bt Sl 2 St
Emission data Emission data
(k) (ke)
Types of Pollutants SRER FHEE(TR) HREER(TR)
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) AALM(NO) 1.82 2.33
Sulphur Dioxide (SO,) —&{LHR (SO, 0.04 0.06
Particulate Matter RYE 0.13 0.17
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

24.

T R ]

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

Chemical Waste and Potentially Hazardous Waste

Construction waste when not managed properly, materials such
as solvents and chemicals can cause soil and water pollution. The
Group is registered as a chemical waste producer with Environmental
Protection Department (“EPD") under the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation. The Group recognises the
adverse impact of chemicals such as paints and larvicide, etc. on the
environment; thus, test is conducted prior to actual use and they are
stored in designated location for safety assurance. All chemical waste
is handled in accordance with the Code of Practice on the Packaging,

Labelling and Storage of Chemical waste published by the EPD.

Non-hazardous Waste — Construction and Demolition Waste

Construction waste increases the burden on landfills, which are
becoming increasingly scarce. The Group's non-recyclable waste was
transported to designated landfills under the Construction Waste
Disposal Charging Scheme by qualified transportation companies
while the recyclable waste was collected by registered recycling

parties.

During the reporting period, there were about 6,224.00 (2023:
2,324.30) tonnes of waste, comprising of rocks, concrete, asphalt,
rubbles, bricks, stones and earth being disposed to the landfills.
The Group understands the impact of waste on the environment,
to achieve long term sustainability, the Group promotes recovery,
recycling and reuse of materials as stated in its waste management
plan by classification and separation to minimise waste disposal.

There are generally five types of construction and demolition waste:

|

"

2.
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued) 2. BRE&N#E)

2.4. Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste (Continued) 24 BEREEZEY(E)
Non-hazardous Waste — Construction and Demolition Waste BEZEY —EERFHEY
(Continued) (&)

Type of Waste Method of Treatment

BNER BEARX

Chemical Waste Dispose with permission under the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation of EPD

fle=-1::37) RREEENRE (LE2EY) (—R)RPIFIRE

Paper/cardboard waste arising from Recycle

construction product packaging

BEERDEEENERHIRED BIRER

Formwork waste Reuse

BIREEY =i

Vegetation during site clearance Dispose

Ti53R B E R

Municipal waste from site offices Dispose if not recyclable (paper, plastic, glass, aluminium)
Tt R =6 EY) f AR fRERB AR AR (KR - 25 - KB - 8)

Paper and its related stationary were another non-hazardous waste KRN EEBEYEAS—BAER
generated. A total of 279.97 (2023: 293.30) kg of paper and printed EENEZEY NEBIRTHR
matters were used in the offices for administration and report EHERBEENRBATS L@
publication purposes. Paper waste was collected by the property 27997 (=& = =% : 29330) &
management for recycling and disposal. Employees are practicing FRREER G - EERARYESIE
double sided printing and actively using digital technology to reduce WE  NETRBERREE - B
paper use. The Group will continue to monitor its paper reuse and SRR AR A Em R AR
recycling efficiency to reduce usage and disposal. FARSBREMAR D ERRR - &

CEREEEREARBARER
BEOYE - R EAREESR
9K
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2.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

2.5.

Use of Resources
The Group's operations involve the use of energy and natural

resources.

Energy Consumption — Electricity

The total electricity consumption of the Group was 125,422 (2023:
201,401) kilowatt-hour (“kWh"), the energy intensity was 415.25
(2023: 666.80) kWh/mZ2 The emission intensity due to energy usage
was 0.24 (2023: 0.34) tCO,-e/m”. The Group is actively seeking
for more energy efficient equipment to reduce GHG emissions and
adopting green practices from the recommendations of the Energy
Efficiency Office of Electrical and Mechanical Services Department to

enhance energy saving.

Water Consumption

There was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. The
total freshwater consumption was 25,890 (2023: 14,218) cubic
meters (“m®"). The consumption intensity was 364.65 (2023:
[51.25) m? per capita. The water consumption of the offices was
not documented as it was covered in the property management fee
and the relevant information was not available. Besides, the amount
of water used in the offices was not significant. In order to lower
water usage and enhance water efficiency in the construction sites,
water conservation measures are in practice to minimise water
wastage. The Group also monitors its water supply to ensure it is
running at its optimal working condition without leakage to protect
this precious natural resource. Besides, the discharge of wastewater
in construction sites strictly follows the requirement and approval of

the EPD to avoid water source pollution.
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

2.5.

2.6.

Use of Resources (Continued)

Fossil Fuel Consumption — Gasoline

There are several motor vehicles being used for transportation
purposes. A total of 3,003.66 (2023: 4,305.76) litres of gasoline
were used for the Group's own fleet. The emission intensity was
0.1'1 (2023: 0.12) tCO,-e per capita. The Group conducted regular
maintenance on vehicles to ensure optimal performance and enhance

energy use.

Materials Consumption — Solvent, Paint and Chemicals

The Group recognised the use of some materials and chemicals
during its work could harm the environment; thus, comprehensive
market research is done, and product information is collected from
suppliers before the procurement decision is made to understand the
product’s effect on the environment. During the reporting period,
the Group has been using materials and chemicals that complied

with the safety and air pollution control regulation.

Packaging Materials Consumption — Not applicable to the Group

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group's operations do not involve in production-related
air, water and land pollutions which are regulated under related
environmental laws and regulations, but there are occasionally some
trees and precious plant species found in the construction locations
of the Group's projects. To minimise the risk of harming and
damaging the trees and plants by the construction works, the Group
would use protective fencing to protect rare and precious plant
species. Besides, tree surveys would be done to examine the trees
and the survey result would be submitted to the Civil Engineering
and Development Department for the necessary precautions needed

to be taken to protect the trees on site.
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2.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (Continued)

27

Climate Change

The Group acknowledges that climate change poses different kinds
of risks as well as opportunities to the Company's operations.
According to the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), climate risks are classified
into transitional risks (the adaptation challenges that companies
may face in terms of policies, laws, technologies and markets) and
physical risks (the impact that extreme weather events may have on

companies).

For physical risks, examples include bad weather such as extreme
cold or heat, heavy rain, storm, typhoon, and other extreme
weather events that can disrupt operations by damaging power grid,
communication infrastructures, obstructing and injuring our staff on
the way or during their work, and also disastrous events incidental
to these weather such as the fire hazard from overheated equipment
in severe heat waves cause by global warming. All these events may

bring severe impact to the Company's operations.

For transitional risks, which means the risks faced by the Company
include the introduction of policies related to energy conservation
and emission reduction, stricter emission reporting obligations and

compliance requirements, etc.

In response, the Group will identify these risks and prioritise those
which have severe impact to take precaution measures first. The
Group will also identify, if any, opportunities where changing of the
business processes may be possible, for instance, staff switch to use
online video conference methods to communicate in order that

these severe impact to operations may be mitigated or avoided.
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3. HUMAN CAPITAL

3.1

Human Capital
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As at 30 April 2024, the total workforce of the Group was 73 (2023:

94), the employee composition is listed in the following table:

R -HERERBRSE

ABEXK

3. ADEX
RZZZMEMA=+H - £A5H
MBEPASA(ZT==F:
94N - EEHEREIN TR -

Employee structure 2024 2023
BTG —g-mE  -3-=%
Total 73 94
By
By gender Male 55 73
BURE S St
Female 18 21
g3
By age <25 2 3
BFRED BEAT
25-29 5 9
2529 5%
30-39 14 16
30-39 5%
40-49 17 21
40-49 5%
>50 35 45
S0BREIA £

Through the years of experience in the industry, the Group

understands that its success and competitiveness are highly

dependent on its workforce. The annual turnover rate was 67%

(2023: 43%). Nevertheless, the Group is committed to maintain a

stable and loyal workforce by providing a competitive remuneration

and benefit package as well as a fair, positive and conductive working

environment that embraces diversity and equality.

BERENZFLR  AEBRH
BN RBEFNEFTIANSEE NE
o FEBEIRAERT%(ZF
TZF43%) 0 AT AEEE
BREARFE HOEMREMNA
A WRE—ELQF - EE - g
WML ERBEENTER
B BhgRREREHNESE
B
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3. HUMAN CAPITAL (Continued) 3. AKWEFR#E)
3.1. Human Capital (Continued) 3. ADER(E)
Turnover Turnover
Employee turnover 2024 percentage 2023 percentage
EBIR% “ECME RAEREIM ZTZ=F MARREDH
Total 49 67% 40 43%
#st
By gender Male 37 67% 36 49%
BURE S Bt
Female 12 67% 4 19%
it
By age <25 50% 3 100%
RERES BHEAT
25-29 4 80% 2 22%
25-29 5%
30-39 9 64% 3 19%
30-39 5%
40-49 14 82% 12 57%
40-49 5%
>50 21 60% 20 44%
S0BREIA £
3.2.  Employment Policies and Compliance 3. BRBERERER
The Group's staff handbook is structured to communicate important AEENETFMEEHEERNE
laws and work ethics surrounding employment, remuneration and & FMhEE - FBREMN B
compensation, benefits and welfare, recruitment and promotion, BRAE  BHRAR  BERR
leaves and holidays, occupational health and safety guidelines, training N 2o BIIKEE  ARE
and development, and business conduct and ethics. Remuneration ERTRNEENEZERERI(ER
package is reviewed periodically to ensure employees are assessed SFEERN o A& B F AR 5 5 BN
and rewarded based on their capabilities, responsibilities and B BRBEESEN  EELRK
performance. The Group provides equal opportunities for employees BAGELEEHES - AEFBEHR
in respect of recruitment, remuneration and benefits, training and B EEH - SIRERE
development, and job advancement. ARESRETEHRE -
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3. HUMAN CAPITAL (Continued) 3. ANEFR#E)
3.2.  Employment Policies and Compliance (Continued) 32 EEBEREBRERE)
During the reporting period, the employees of the Group has RBEHHE  AEBETIERRE
received a total of 13.50 (2023: 51.75) hours of training, or 0.18 HI1350(ZF==F : 51.75) @D
(2023: 0.55) hours per person. 7% (2023: 4%) of its employees ek BA0I8(ZE =% :055)
received training. Training topics includes operation skills, safety B NEERE - BER 7% (ZE ==
measures, and professional knowledge, such as engineering and safety Fo4%) BT LERE - 2l
management knowledge. BEEEERD  2RHELkEE

M PIMIRRLZ2ERAE

2024 2023
“EomE i S
Number  Percentage Average Number  Percentage Average
of trained  of employees hours of trained ~ of employees hours
employees trained trained employees trained trained
ZAST RIS  FHRE KBTI XAIET
Employees’ training BT A8 AHESM 33 AE ABBESL THRIIRH
By employee category REIERES
Senior management aRERE 5 56% 1.50 4 40% 518
Middle management PRERE 0 0% 0.00 0 0% 0.00
General staff —RET 0 0% 0.00 0 0% 0.00
By gender gl E-pa)
Male Bt 4 7% 0.22 3 9% 066
Female 7 | 6% 0.08 \ 9% 0.8

Total At 5 7% 0.18 4 4% 0.55
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3. HUMAN CAPITAL (Continued)

3. ABEXR®E)

3.3 Occupational Health and Safety Policies and Compliance 33 BERBRRZERURERER
The Group is committed to achieving a high level of occupational REBMNENSENBERRR
health and safety performance, the Group's corporate safety policy TERE FEBREERER
regards safety and health matters being the priority by ensuring o ETEANIEZEEENS
the health and well-being of its employees and complying with the fl - AEEERRERREZEDN
applicable work safety laws and regulations. Various occupational GCELZIHRBEEEEE - A5E
health and safety trainings are conducted to enhance employees' PRESASEBEREN TR
safety awareness and practices. The Group's corporate safety plan il ARSEENZ 2 ERLHE
describes the details of safety management policies and guidelines HET#R% AEEHCEL R
surrounding employee and work safety. The Group also adopts the EEAEEEERTELENE S
workplace safety guidelines from Occupational Safety and Health EEHBK RIS MEE - AEB T
Council to train employees on how to protect themselves from RNBEL2RERNIIESIE
health and safety hazard. 25l NIBIIHEEERERD

SXBRERZEBENAE
Apart from safety trainings, pre-work briefings, safety precautions and B2 el —RERE
health related working tips are communicated to employees working WERTENESRR  RIEBE
at construction sites. Personal protective equipment such as helmets, e ZrEmREERENTE
gowns, gloves, eyewear and face masks, etc. are also provided to R - BEMERMEEE R4 -
employees for personal protection. Emergency procedures are FE REFASEMARER
communicated periodically, and employees” awareness is high. e REBTHAEERPRZE

BRF MEENEEEES -
The Group also requires its subcontractors to comply with its safety AEBNMEXEDBEHETELYSE
policies to protect the interest of the workers. Corporate safety BOR - MRETI ARG - A&ETE
audit is conducted regularly to encourage safety compliance and HETOELZERSE  UHEET
employees’ safety commitment. During the reporting period, the T2 REEREHEE - NifE
Group has not violated any related safety and health ordinance and HE AEBTEEREMERR
provisions. & R RRAGDI R A& -

2024 2023 2022

Occupational Health and Safety Data BERERZ2HE 12 —TC-=F —T-CF
Number of work-related fatalities T ER R & 8 A2 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury” RAIGRATIERS 439 901 352

#

case that occurred and was reported in 2020.

T |

> 2 A a0

Lost days due to work injury in 2022 were related to a work injury

g RZTEZ—FAIGERIE
BHE-—SN_ZE-TEEL
RRENTEEREE -
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3. HUMAN CAPITAL (Continued)

34.

3.5.

Human Resource Development and Training Policies

The Group understands that the experience and skills of employees
are important and critical to its developing needs. To improve their
job performance and to prepare them for future development,
various training programs are offered to employees to improve
their skills and knowledge. The Group also encourages employees
to further develop themselves by offering training sponsorship so
employees can attend external training courses or educational

programs for self-advancement.

Labour Practices and Compliance

The Group complies with the laws and regulations relating to
employment, child and forced labour practices. The recruitment
process is strictly abided by the Group's recruitment policy, ensuring
the suitable and qualified candidates are hired in accordance with the
relevant laws, job requirement and candidates’ expectation for a fair,

happy and sustainable workforce.

Work schedule guidelines are clearly stated on the staff handbook
and the working roster of relevant employees are posted in
employees’ working locations to communicate work time and
schedule. During the reporting period, there was no incidence of
work stoppages, labour disputes, litigation, claims, administrative

action or arbitration relating to labour disputes against the Group.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The quality and safety of the final project works are of ultimate importance

to the Group. To ensure project safety and service quality, various

suppliers of products and materials as well as subcontractors are engaged

for goods and services. The Group's procurement policy is to ensure the

best available quality products are selected in an honest, competitive, fair

and transparent manner. Suppliers and subcontractors are selected based

upon documented procedures, clear criteria and due diligence check.
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4. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT POLICIES (Continued) 4, MEETEHEKZ)
4.1.  Suppliers’ and Subcontractors’ Engagement 41. ZERHEEERSEH

The Group recognises the importance of using reputable suppliers REBFARKEAEER FOHEER
and subcontractors who offer reliable, stable, cost-effective and high- ROPBEAEE  HEHERNR
quality products and services to meet the needs and requirements FEBERMEAE BT FEK
of the customers. The Group has 4 main suppliers located in Hong AR ERERRRE  m
Kong (including product and material suppliers, and subcontractors) REFHEX - REBRBAHE
on the approved suppliers list which is reviewed annually by ERE FH4AUREBNEEH
the administration and project management team. The project e (B3R E m MR R DA I
management team would also conduct performance appraisal DEH) ZLZERTHENERSE
through on-site audit to evaluate the performance of subcontractors EEKEFERN - BEEEERT
for continuous improvement and cooperation. CEBEWER  BFESEER

TDHRENERAEETRRTRZ -

5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY 5. EmEf
The Group is approved and registered to undertake the following NEBEMEETHBET N IEERR
construction related projects in Hong Kong and it is subjected to the laws BR - YERETMER  HFETAH
and regulations of different categories of work. AR R TR FERE ) A2 R AR ) -
Approved Specialist Contractor Public Works maintained by the Development Bureau of

the Hong Kong Government under the categories of
“Landslip Preventive/Remedial Works to Slopes/Retaining
Walls” with a confirmed status and “Land Piling (Group II)".

A BPEGER BEBRERBAMFERBEANRIRS B ENO0IE
RS, BRI (BRERABR) R
(LT (R IE) IMAKTR -

Registered Specialist Contractor Sub-register of “Site Formation Works" and

Registered General Building Contractor “Foundation Works" categories of the Buildings
Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

i fit B PG R BEMGH (BBENE 1 235) THBFRIR]

[l §=-E < 1] R Ti2 BRI it

R EEEE
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

Slope works are generally referred to landslip preventive and remedial
works for improving or maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining
walls. Foundation works are generally concerned with the construction
of foundations. The overall success of the Group's projects depend
on the monitoring, auditing, and managing processes from materials
selection, quality management system, to work performance on site.
The Group's project management team is responsible to plan resources,
choose appropriate materials, manage time and work progress and ensure
employees’ quality performance so that high-quality work and on-time
project completion could be enforced and guaranteed. Complaint channels
are available for customers to communicate concerns and complaints and
the Groups has formulated a details complaint handling procedure for
follow up response and actions. During the reporting period, there were

no significant complaints in project and service quality and delivery.

5.1.  Protecting Intellectual Property Rights
The Group recognises the importance of intellectual property
protection in Hong Kong and complies with the intellectual property
(the “IP") rights regulations. During the reporting period, there was
no material infringement of the IP rights and the Group is confident
that all reasonable measures have been taken to prevent any

infringement of its own IP rights and the IP rights of third parties.

5.2.  Quality Assurance Process
The Group is committed to providing safe and high-quality work to
customers. The Group's Integrated Management System integrates
all quality, environmental, and safety management standards
(1ISO9001, 1ISO14001 and OHSASI8001) into one system which
covers quality, safety, health and environment (“QSHE") for the
management of quality assurance, health and safety compliance,
and environmental protection. Based on the design and quality
requirement of customers, the QSHE department is responsible for
on- site supervision, management and inspection to ensure quality
performance and to prevent non-conformance. The Group also
developed a complaint handling policy to ensure customers' concern

is treated seriously and addressed promptly and fairly.
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5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

5.3.  Data Protection and Privacy Policies

As stipulated in the Group's Code of Conduct, the Group
properly manages and protects the data of its employees,
customers, subcontractors and suppliers to ensure their privacy
and confidentiality. All tender documents, service contracts, related
licenses, employees’ personal data are neatly secured and archived.
The Group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and
is strictly abided by the regulation in the collection, disclosure, usage,

retention, and storage of data to ensure data integrity and safety.

6.  ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICIES AND COMPLIANCE

The Group has regarded honesty, integrity and fairness as its core
value that must be upheld by all directors and employees and their
family members, relatives or close personal friends. To formalise the
commitments, the Group's Code of Conduct stipulates the expected
requirement and the Group's policies on bribery, corruption, fraud and
conflict of interest. Directors and employees are required to observe
the Group's Code of Conduct when dealing with the Group's business,
corrupt and fraudulent practices including the action to offer, request,
provide, obtain, receive an advantage or to avoid an obligation are strictly
forbidden. The Group conducts periodic and systematic risk assessment

and communicates related anti-fraud policies and procedures to employees

on a regular basis.

6.1. Conflict of Interest

The Code of Conduct also stated that all directors and employees
should avoid the conflict between personal financial interest and the
professional official duties in the Group. The code requires directors
and employees to declare any potential conflict of interest and to

report on any gifts or advantages being offered to or received by the

Group by completing the required documentation.
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6.  ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICIES AND COMPLIANCE (Continued)

6.2.

Preventive Measures and Whistle-blowing Procedures

The Group upholds its ethical value by establishing its whistleblowing
policies whereas an employee could report genuine concern about
suspected misconduct, malpractice or irregularity regarding financial
and compliance matters in strict confidence. Reporting procedures
were communicated through the staff handbook, and refresher
training was conducted to ensure employees understand the Group's
Code of Conduct. During the reporting period, there was no related

fraudulent case reported against the Group.

7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

7.1.

Community Care

As stipulated in the corporate environmental policy, the Group
is committed to conducting business in every aspect to minimise
potential environmental and social impact to its stakeholders
especially its employees and the community members. The Group
will explore opportunities in future charity or community events to
play a part in making a difference and strengthening the Hong Kong

community.
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (Continued) 7. HERE#E)
7.2.  Donations 72. BX

During the year the Company has made a number of monetary R ARAIEM T EERIBE

contributions to the following charities at the amount and for the HABER  FHSBERAZER

purposes stated in the following table: T&:

Charities Purposes Amount

HEHR A% &8

I. The Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society HKAC 60th Anniversary Charity Dinner HK$68,000

| FEEE BENBG OBFEIRE 68,0008 7T

2. The University of Hong Kong Sponsoring research of HKU HK$20,000
Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine

2 BEKRE BREABFRABERMAEY 20,000 % 7T

3. Hong Kong Kwong Yuet Tong Commemoration of 140th anniversary of HK$80,000
the founding of the Lo Pan Temple

3. BARMENE KRB MBI 140 BF 80,0008 7T

4. Hong Kong Federation of Trade Charity Walks HK$10,000

Unions - Occupational Safety and

Health Association Company Limited

4 IHBZEBEBRAF REST 10,0007 7T

HK$ 178,000

178,00078 7

8. TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 8. BOUFERR

The construction industry is facing great challenges as the community is ERHEEBRETEERER I RER
concern about the air, water and noise pollution that are possibly created BEENZR KERBRITENE
by construction related activities on the environment. Being a responsible A BETRERHEAKE - ERE
enterprise, the Group understands that energy and water conversation, BENGE  AEEHOHEEHKIR
and waste reduction are among the top priorities to preserve a better BEOBRSRELAZRAZ  RERRE
environment for future generations. The Group will continue to explore EXRERIRG c BETIRER  BEE
more sustainable solutions in performing its work and strive to be a role HERSARENBRIR  LENH

model in the industry on environmental protection. RRBEARMER -




The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2024 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2015. Its registered office and principal place
of business are at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350 Grand
Cayman KYI-1108, Cayman Islands and Unit Aé6-D, 12/F., Block A, Hong Kong
Industrial Centre, 489-491 Castle Peak Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong,

respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in undertaking slope works, foundation works and other

general building works in Hong Kong.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, environmental policies of the Group, compliance
with laws and regulations by the Group, its relationship with customers, suppliers,
subcontractors and employees and an indication of likely future developments in
the Group's business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 5 to 19 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this

directors’ report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 30 April 2024 by

operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out

on page |76 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on

page 94.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders of the

Company for the year ended 30 April 2024.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As of 30 April 2024, the reserves of the Company available for distribution, as
calculated in accordance with the Companies Cap. 22 of Cayman Islands, was
Nil (2023: Nil) inclusive of share premium and retained earnings/(accumulated

losses).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 30 April 2024 are set out in notes |3 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 30 April 2024 are set out

in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group are set out in note 20

to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
The Company's total issued share capital as at 30 April 2024 was 1,577,200,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during the year ended

30 April 2024 are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable and other donation made by the Group during the year amounted to

approximately HK$178,000 (2023: HK$10,000).

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 30 April 2024 and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming previously as Law Ka Ming Michael
(appointed on 5 July 2022)

Mr. Choi Pun Lap

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(resigned on 15 March 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan

Mr. Fu Yan Ming

The Directors' biographical details are set out in the section headed “Biographical

Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

Information regarding directors’ emoluments is set out in note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements under

Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules has been received from each of the INEDs.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All Directors have entered into service agreements with the Company for a term

of three years commencing from their respective date of appointment. All of

these service agreements may be terminated earlier by no less than one month

written notice served by either party on the other.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service

contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Long Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 30 April 2024, none of the Directors had, or was deemed to have
any interests and long positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meanings of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) (i) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO)
or (ii) which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register of members of the Company, or (iii) which were
required, pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors as referred to
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Long Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 30 April 2024, the interest and long positions of the person (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) or company which
was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under

Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Approximate

percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature interested shareholding
i/ A RS

2% Bt/ HE HRHEE REBDL

Emperor Securities Limited Beneficial owner 792,000,000 50.21%

REFFBRAF EsHAA

Emperor Capital Group Limited Interest in controlled corporation (Note) 792,000,000 50.21%

REBREEERAA R EE RS (M E)

Albert Yeung Capital Holdings Limited Interest in controlled corporation (Note) 792,000,000 50.21%
RfEslEE R (M)

CDM Trust & Board Services AG Trustee of a private discretionary trust (Note) 792,000,000 50.21%
MARBEEZZFEA M)

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing Albert Founder of a private discretionary trust (Note) 792,000,000 50.21%

BXKEL MARERETZRILA ()

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse (Note) 792,000,000 50.21%

e ert BB (L)

Note: VEE

These Shares were held by Emperor Securities Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Emperor Capital Group Limited which was in turn owned by Albert Yeung
Capital Holdings Limited as to 42.75%. Albert Yeung Capital Holdings Limited was
in turn held by CDM Trust & Board Services AG in trust for a private discretionary
trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Yeung Sau
Shing, Albert, CDM Trust & Board Services AG, Albert Yeung Capital Holdings
Limited, Emperor Capital Group Limited are deemed to be interested in the
792,000,000 Shares held by Emperor Securities Limited.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2024, no person, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out
herein this report, had registered an interest or short position in the shares
or underlying Shares that was required to be recorded pursuant to section

336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of the Group's revenue and purchases attributable to major

customers and suppliers are as follows:

BREXFREEIN R-T_MNFMA
=TH BEAL(XRAEER&ERTT
BABRRI  EREHENARE)EEL
AREE S MR RIS 336 Reoikam

Bin SRR D MR SR

FREFRHLER
IRRFRHEEREASRENRERERENER
AT

2024 2023
—BomE —B=HF
% %
Percentage of revenue: WaHBaDL

From the five largest customers REEAREP 99.9 99.5
From the largest customer RERAEP 54.6 51.2

Percentage of construction material BREMHEERY BRE

purchases and construction subcontracted: AT

From the five largest suppliers REARHEER 93.2 99.7
From the largest suppliers RERAHER 34.0 50.7

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company) has an

interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interests
directly or indirectly subsisted at 30 April 2024 or at any time during the year
ended 30 April 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND DIRECTOR’S AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITY INSURANCE

Pursuant to Article 191 of the Articles, the Directors or other officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which may incur in connection with the executive of their duty
provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or

dishonesty of the above persons.

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers liability insurance for all
Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the
corresponding costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate

activities against them.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 30
April 2024,

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
and “Directors and Chief Executive's Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the year ended 30 April
2024 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective close
associates, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company had not entered into any connected transaction during the
year ended 30 April 2024 which is required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules. Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 30 April 2024, which constitute fully exempt continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules are disclosed in note 23

to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, controlling shareholders nor substantial shareholders
of the Company nor their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) had held any position or had interest in any businesses or companies that
were or might be materially competing with the business of the Group, or gave
rise to any concern regarding conflict of interests during the year ended 30 April

2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year ended 30 April
2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme on |5 October
2015 (the “Scheme”). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance with the

provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel,
to provide additional incentive to eligible participants and to promote the
success of the business of the Group. Eligible participants of the share option
scheme include employees (full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners

or service providers of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the Scheme, in any |2-month period up to the date of grant shall not

exceed |% ofthe-shares in issue.
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An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days inclusive of
the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee of an
option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of option(s) is
HK$1. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination

thereof.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified
to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option. For the purpose
of calculating the subscription price, where the Company has been listed on the
Stock Exchange for less than five business days, the new issue price shall be used

as the closing price for any business day falling within the period before listing.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on
the date of adoption, being |5 October 2015, and shall expire at the close of
business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof

unless terminated earlier by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at |5 October 2015 (the date of conditional adoption by the
written resolutions of the then sole Shareholder passed on |5 October 2015).
On the basis of 1,440,000,000 ordinary shares in issue as at |5 October 2015,
the maximum number of ordinary shares available for issue under the Scheme is
equivalent to 144,000,000 Shares, representing 9.13% of the ordinary shares in
issue as at 30 April 2024 and as at the date of publication of the 2024 Annual
Report.

No share options was granted during the year ended 30 April 2024.
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Details of the share option for the Year as regarded are provided in note 25 to

the consolidated financial statements in this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares or that requires the Company to enter
into an agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, were

entered into by the Group during the Year or existed at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the Year
was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company

or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a

pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
Details are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements in this

report.

PUBLIC FLOAT
To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information that is publicly
available to the Company, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as

of the date of this annual report as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Fan Chan who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution for the appointment of Fan Chan as
the auditor of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited

Choi Pun Lap

Hong Kong, 31 July 2024
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Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

To the members of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 94 to 175, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code") and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$349,000 for the
year ended 30 April 2024 and as at 30 April 2024, the Group had net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$23,201,000 and HK$22,643,000
respectively. As stated in note 2, these conditions, along with the matters as set
forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this

matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to
Going Concern” section, we have determined the matter described below to be

the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

HRETEEE)

Key audit matter

RREFHEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNEHANAEERRENSE

Revenue recognition of construction contracts of slope works

FMRIRERESHNRARR

Refer to Note 2.10 under Note 2 Material accounting policy
information and Note 5 Revenue to the consolidated financial

statements, respectively.

Revenue derived from construction contracts of slope works
amounted to approximately HK$302 million in 2024. The
Group generally recognised revenue over a period of time
according to the progress towards completion agreed with the
customers based on the output method. Most construction
works take years to complete and the scope of work may
change during the construction period. Management estimates
the revenue and budgeted costs at the commencement of
the construction contracts and regularly assesses the progress
of construction works as well as the financial impact of
scope changes, claims, disputes and liquidated damages. The
management'’s estimate of revenue and the completion status
of construction works requires significant judgement and has
a significant impact on the amount and timing of revenue
recognised, therefore, we identified the revenue recognition of

construction contracts of slope works as a key audit matter.
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition of

construction contracts of slope works included:

®  obtaining an understanding, and evaluating and testing
the applicable internal controls relevant to the revenue

recognition of construction contracts of slope works;

®  selecting a number of construction contracts on a sample
basis, and performing contract reviews on major terms
and assessing the reasonableness of the basis adopted
by management in relation to the revenue recognition

method;

e discussing with project management personnel to obtain
an understanding of the progress towards completion of

the contract works;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) RRETBEZ)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRETEEGR) ERNETOMEERRETSE(E)

Revenue recognition of construction contracts of slope works (Continued)

MRIBRESHNRARR(E)

®  examining the supporting documents, such as confirmation
of the progress towards completion, architect certificates

etc., obtained by the Group;

®  testing the mathematical accuracy of the revenue based
on the progress towards completion and the contract

revenue;

*  performing cut-off tests by examining the supporting
documents that management used to recognise the
revenue before and after the balance sheet date, such
as confirmation of the progress towards completion
and project settlement statement to assess whether the
revenue had been recognised in the correct accounting

period; and

®  assessing the adequacy of the disclosures related to the
revenue recognition of the construction contracts in the
context of HKFRS disclosure requirements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

®  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

®  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

*  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin
Practising Certificate Number: P03702

31 July 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeBRERkEMEERER

For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE" T MENA=THILFE

2024 2023

13 —B-=F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

Pt TET THET

Revenue 1 5 302,095 199,173

Direct costs BEERA (296,336) (195,260)

Gross profit EY 5,759 3913

Other income and other gain H A R Bt e as 6 1,847 2,173

Administrative expenses THRAX (7,234) (8,105)
Reversal of/(impairment losses net of reversal) REEREEHEEA BN
under expected credit loss model BB/ (MR EE AR E

B18) 8(b) 361 (334)

Finance costs REKA 7 (1,082) (723)

Loss before tax BRBLAIE 1R 8 (349) (3,076)

Income tax expense BiEE2 b 9 — —

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FEEER 2HMAHE (349) (3,076)

Loss per share for loss attributable to ERRBEEAERL HK cents 384l HK cents 71l

owners of the Company BENERER
Basic and diluted EXREE | (0.02) (0.20)
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As at 30 April 2024

W-E-mEmA=+A

2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000

FiasE THER FAT
Non-current assets *RBEE

Property, plant and equipment WE - BE K& 13 558 29
558 29

Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EA WA 15 26,261 47,044
Contract assets BHEE 6 4,219 4,292
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEED 17 33,834 I,146
64,314 52,482

Current liabilities nREBEE
Trade and other payables B S REMERNTIE 18 73,507 58,124
Contract liabilities aRaE 19 1,211 8,110
Borrowings e 20 12,568 8,342
Tax payable PRI HiIR 229 229

87,515 74,805
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ma AR R

As at 30 April 2024
R-F_MFNA=TA

2024 2023
“—EomE —T-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000

ik TET THT

Net current liabilities RBAEERE (23,201) (22,323)

Net liabilities 8EFE (22,643) (22,294)
Capital and reserves RAR &%

Share capital BRA 21 15,772 15772

Reserves f#E (38,415) (38,066)

Total deficit BaRE (22,643) (22,294)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 94 to 175 were approved and EHF 75 AN a B HAR - E_WF+
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2024 and are signed on ~ H=1+—HEEESH ERKEFE IHT
its behalf by: JEFELFKEE

Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming Mr. Choi Pun Lap BEXALE BAYRE
Director Director EZE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBEX

For the year ended 30 April 2024

HE_Z_NEMA=THILFE

Merger Accumulated

Share capital ~ Share premium reserve losses Total
k& RHEE AftRE it ER R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TEn TER TER
(note (a))
(M @)
At | May 2022 RZE-Z€R1A—-H 15,772 72,131 18,001 (125,122) (19218)
Loss and total comprehensive ERFRRZERXAER
expense for the year - - - (3,076) (3,076)
At 30 April 2023 and | May 2023 RZEZ=4NA=+H
e Sk 5 = 15,772 72,131 18,001 (128,198) (22,294
Loss and total comprehensive ERFERZERXER
expense for the year - - - (349) (349)
At 30 April 2024 R-ZB-MEMA=1A 15,772 72,131 18,001 (128,547 (22,643)
Note: Bt

(@)  Merger reserve represents the difference between the share capital issued by the @ AFREERE TETHEARR A K

Company for acquisition of the subsidiaries pursuant to a reorganisation for the BB AR B BT AR AR B S AR R U
listing and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries being acquired at the time of the MEAREERZ AR ZHE

reorganisation.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= ==
mERERER
For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE_T_NENA=TRALFE

2024 2023
“ECMmE —T_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TRT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Loss before tax BRI E R (349) (3,076)
Adjustments for: HE:
Interest income FBUWA (22) =
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRENTE 85 273
Finance cost BMEKRAR 1,082 723
Gain on disposal of property, HEME. BE k& Ez Kam
plant and equipment (732) —
(Reversal of)/impairment loss on trade and 25 REMENRE(RR), SREEE
other receivables (361) 388
Reversal of provision of litigation claims FAREEERD — (794)
Reversal of impairment loss on contract assets REANBEENRERSE — (54)
Operating cash flows before movements LEEREYNNLER S
in working capital (297) (2,540)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B5 REMEBKTIRRD, /(M)
other receivables 21,144 (30,920)
Decrease in contract assets BRNEERYD 73 5262
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables ﬁ%&,ﬁﬁﬁrﬁw\lﬁ wA),/ g0 (9,017) 16,444
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHBECRD), /LM (6,899) 8110
Cash generated from/(used in) operations wEmE,/ (A)RE 5,004 (3,644)
Income tax refund, net REFAEH - F8E — 470
Net cash generated from/(used in) wEERBME/ (R REEE
operating activities 5,004 (3,174)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest income received EUERA S A 22 —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE  BERHR (614) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « BFE RRXEMBHIE
plant and equipment 732 —
Net cash generated from investing activities REGZDMEREEHE 140 —
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For the year ended 30 April 2024

BE-_Z-_MEMA=1THILEE

2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings
Advance from a director of a subsidiary

Repayment to a director of a subsidiary

Net cash generated from/(used in)

financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

FHET FET
METEH
{EEFE5A 3,144 2,650
ke -—FNBAR—REENBX 45,500 —
m—ERBAR —REZEN (21,100) (43,100)
REEHHNG/ (AR 3R

27,544 (40,450)
Be LB SEMEN, CRD)FB

32,688 (43,624)
FMRE KR EEY

[,146 44,770
FRBENIREEEY 33,834 I.146

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. M Rmae M BHREET—85
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS R R MY RE

For the year ended 30 April 2024

BE_Z-NWENA=THIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2015 as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares have been listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange")
on 2 November 2015. The directors of the Company consider that the
immediate holding company of the Company during the year ended 30
April 2024 is Emperor Securities Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor Capital Group
Limited. The intermediate holding company of the Company, Emperor
Capital Group Limited, is incorporated in Bermuda and the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 717
while the Company's ultimate holding company is, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, Albert Yeung Capital Holdings Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The address of the registered office of the Company is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KYI-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of the principal place of business of the Company
is Unit A6-D, |2th floor, Block A, Hong Kong Industrial Centre, 489-491
Castle Peak Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group")
are principally engaged in undertaking slope works, foundation works and

other general building works in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands

("HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

2.1

22

23

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules™).

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the

historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange of goods and services.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$349,000
(2023: HK$3,076,000) for the year ended 30 April 2024 and,
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately HK$23,201,000 (2023: HK$22,323,000)
and HK$22,643,000 (2023: HK$22,294,000) respectively. Those
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The validity of the use of going concern in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements is dependent upon the
Group's ability to generate adequate cash flows in order to meet its

obligations as and when the obligations fall due.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.3 GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)
The directors of the Company (“Directors”) adopted the going

concern basis in the preparation of consolidated financial statements

and implemented the following measures in order to improve the

working capital and liquidity and cash flow position of the Group:

("

)

©

Financial support from holding company

The holding company of the Company, Emperor Securities
Limited, has confirmed that it will provide financial support to
the Group up to the amount of HK$36,000,000 to enable the
Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for the

future period up to 3| October 2025.

Alternative source of funding

The Group is actively considering to raise new capital by
carrying out fund raising activities including but not limited to
rights issue, open offer, placing of new shares and issuance of

convertible note.

Various cost control measures

The Directors plan to improve the Group's financial
performance by taking steps to reduce discretionary expenses

and administrative costs.

In the opinion of the Directors, in light of the various measures/

arrangements implemented, the Group will have sufficient working

capital for its current requirements and it is reasonable to expect

the Group to remain a commercially viable concern. Accordingly,

the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the

consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

23

24

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as to whether
the Group is able to continue as a going concern as the ability of
the Group to achieve its plans and measures as described above
cannot be determined with reasonable certainty and incorporates
assumptions about future events and conditions that are subject to
inherent uncertainty. Should the Group be unable to continue to
operate as a going concern, it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Adjustments
would have to be made to write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any future liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments

have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

®  has power over the investee;

®* s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

®  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

25

26

27

T R ]

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line

method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 30%
Motor vehicles 30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount

of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of office premises that have a lease term of |2 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on

a straight-line basis.

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (the “CGU") to which the asset

belongs.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

27

2.8

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual CGU, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGU for which a reasonable and

consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with

customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 2. BEAREHBRERE)
2.8  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28 SEIAE)
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the ERMELERFE-—HeMEESR

amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts

estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and

SRABECEBHEKAREEBSRE
DEMBBRARFERX 2%
ERNZAReREESSMAE
ZBEHIERFAN(NEE)R

points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective R - BRTEEARR SR
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) ARNF(BEERERFE 2E

through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:
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® the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

T EEEn

o AHBRFEETRAHMELR
ERE ZHEREERX
NEERABERESHOME, -



MIBEREEREERTRD A

2024 F )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, contract assets and bank balances),
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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HECZZ
2.

“MENA=TRLEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i)

R EEEE

o ——

Amortised cost and interest income (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, [2-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within |2 months after the
reporting date. Assessment is done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting

date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/or

collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equals to |2m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of
the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information

that is available without undue cost or effort.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and

supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in

credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

R EEEE

o ——

Definition of default

The Group considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,

including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more

appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about

the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)

that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

W)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks

of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.
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HECZZ
2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(vi)

T EEEn

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not vet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on

the following basis:

o Past-due status;

®  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit

risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on

amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amounts, with the exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised

through a loss allowance account.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or

loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (including trade and
other payables, amount due to a director of a subsidiary, amounts
due to former directors and borrowings) are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8

29

"o

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.

PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT
ASSETS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle

the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within
the control of the Group, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that has not yet
met the recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent

assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.10 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services underlying

the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service that is distinct or a

series of distinct services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the

relevant performance obligation.

* the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group

performs;

*  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

* the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of

time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.
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For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE" T MENA=THILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.10 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Continued)
Construction contracts
Revenue mainly arises from the provision of performing slope works

and foundation works in Hong Kong.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a

5-step process:
I. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. ldentifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are
satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract

excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over time as
the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the

customer controls.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict the

Group's performance in transferring control of services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.10 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled
using either (a) the expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, depending on which method better predicts the amount of

consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that
such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty associated with the variable

consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the

reporting period.
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mE MR

For the year ended 30 April 2024
“MENA=TRLEFE

HECZZ
2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

211

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined

contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of
its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’

basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's obligations
under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contribution

payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the end of the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.12

213

2.14

BORROWING COSTS
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit

or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to

accumulated losses.

INCOME TAXES
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and deferred

tax.

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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“MENA=TRLEFE

HECE
2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.14

INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting

period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.14

2.15

2.16

INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same

taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

GOVERNMENT GRANT
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching

to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors, who are the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM") for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group's business components for their review of

the performance of those components.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 2. EABHBERER#E)
2.17 RELATED PARTIES 217 B@®A
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party RZEGEETBRERMES - TEU
is considered to be related to the Group if: THREOALHEREAEEEE
B
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s family @) BRALTBFEUTHEEHHA
and if that person: THRZATHEBERKK
B :
(i)  has control or joint control over of the Group; () HEREEAFEHES

SERIPRHE ¢

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEEEEARY
- 9
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the (il BASKEZAEER
Group or of a parent of the Group. NEHTEEEER
/E\ o
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions b)) BRATREBATAUTHE
applies: A {efe -
()  the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEBEAZEARR
group; —EEMKEAT
(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) HEBAHMEE(
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a AZEMEEMEBES
group of which the other entity is a member); B EARINEE A
Al A S hE) e
AASAERE
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same iy ZEBREAEERF
third party; —EZHMAEDR
¥
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —EAERBAXE=F
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ERENGECE M
S—ERRAE=ZF
BRAOEE QA

T |
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
2.17 RELATED PARTIES (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

)

(vii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group (if the Group is itself such a plan)
and the sponsoring employers are also related to the

Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to the

Group or to the parent of the Group.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or

obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of

whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE_T_NENA=TRALFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 3. ERAFITREBIEBUHREE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) BI([EBEBEHREER])
3.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the 3.0 AEEBREEMRNITRLETE
current year BB REER
In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and RAFE  AEERAEEER S
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are first effective SHEERNER T EAEEA
for the current accounting period of the Group: SRMERIE] MBI BB R
A
*  HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and February 2022 o EBEUBHBEEAEITR
Amendments to HKFRS 17), /nsurance Contracts (AE-_E_EF+ARZ

Z-—F-REBYBEHRE
EREI7HRUERIAR)) R

&4
«  Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, o FEEHEAFIFREE
Disclosure of Accounting Policies HBRELNERRRE

RUERTA) Bt HEKE

. Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates o FHESIEBEHE(UEE
X)) BB HESE

*  Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and o  BEQIERNZE RUBET
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction r) HEEXZELME

ERREHBECHE

. Amendments to HKAS |2 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two o EEGIERENFUBE

Model Rules X)) BEHHENE -

ZIEER

Except as described below, the application of the new and BT &S RAFEERERA £
amendments to the HKFRSs listed above in the current year had no MEE] MR G Bl @A &
material effect on the Group's financial performance and positions VTEHAEEAFERNBEFEN
for the current and prior year and on the disclosures set out in the ABRA KRR ERERERY
consolidated financial statements. 2 NEUESIBRERMIANE

BREHENENEATE

T |

> 2 A a0
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

3.1

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments to HKAS
I, accounting policy information that is standardised information, or
information that only duplicates or summarises the requirements of
the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy information
and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements so as not to obscure the material accounting policy
information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements.

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the HKICPA
guidance on the accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF") — Long Service Payment (“LSP")

offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

The Company and its subsidiary are operating in Hong Kong which
are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances.
Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the
trustee who administers the assets held in a trust solely for the
retirement benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP
against an employee's accrued retirement benefits derived from
employers' MPF contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR
gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition
will officially take effect on | May 2025 (the “Transition Date"). In
addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month's salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of
termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP

in respect of the employment period before the Transition Date.
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BE_T_NENA=TRALFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

3.1

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the HKICPA
guidance on the accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF") — Long Service Payment (“LSP")
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong" which
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism
and the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented
the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP
obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting mechanism
and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from employer
MPF contributions that have been vested with the employee
and which could be used to offset the employee's LSP benefits
as a deemed contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the deemed employee
contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the period in

which the related service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the Abolition, these
contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to the employee's
service in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF contributions
after the Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre-transition
LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to view the
contributions as “independent of the number of years of service” and
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer
applicable. Instead, these deemed contributions should be attributed to
periods of service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying
paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 9.

Based on management'’s assessment, the change has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

3.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the current
accounting period. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these amendments to HKFRSs but is not yet in a
position to state whether these amendments to HKFRSs would have

a significant impact on its results of operations and financial position:

e R ARG
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z_NEMA=TALEE

3. EBRAMITREBIBEEMBREE

AT ERMBRERER]) (&)

32 CEMAEEREMNEEITEEY
HaRERER
AEERARERATRAG T HE
ERMERRERZFETEEH
BRERER - AEEDFRIAEZ
ERETBERBREE ¥
& BEARHPRLEIEER
BHREEARDEHALERER

VBRREEERTE
Effective for
accounting
periods RATAE
beginning on HZERRN
or after e e
. Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, To be determined ERURREENE 05 R &E

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture

. Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability | January 2024

in a Sale and Leaseback

. Amendments to HKAS |, Classification | January 2024
of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

BAGERE 8

(BATK)  REEZHE

HELNRGAELES

BB ELEARNA
BANBRERERE 165 “EomE
(B3TR) - B4 HE -B—H
JHERE
BAGIERE | K (BITK) - “EomE
BEEAEERAALRE -A-H
REBEBESH

(ZE_FF)mialE:T
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 3. ERHEIREEITEBMEREE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) B([EBEMEHREED ] (&)
32 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued) 32 CEMEEREMBIT KRBT
ERMBRERER(E)

Effective for

accounting
periods RATAH
beginning on RZERRN
or after EREES
. Amendments to HKAS |, Non-current | January 2024 EB@zERE | 5 —ZE-MEF
Liabilities with Covenants CCHEIE —HR—H
WA FH G E E

. Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, | January 2024 ERe@tERETER —ZE-MF
Supplier Finance Arrangements BT KREER —A—H

FTRUEFTR) -

HREBBELT
. Amendments to HKAS 21, | January 2025 BB @ER| —“E-RE
Lack of Exchangeability 21 RUBFR) - —A—H

RS AL
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The

resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related

actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

@)

Revenue recognition for construction contract

The management recognises revenue from construction contract
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurement of the value of construction work transferred
to the customer to date relative to the remaining construction
works promised to be completed under the construction contract.
Most construction works take years to complete and the scope
of work may change during the construction period. Management
estimates the revenue and budgeted costs at the commencement
of the construction contracts and regularly assesses the progress of
construction works as well as the financial impact of scope changes,
claims, disputes and liquidated damages. The management's estimate
of revenue and the completion status of construction works requires
significant judgement and has a significant impact on the amount and
timing of revenue recognised. The construction works performed by
the Group would be certified by the independent quantity surveyors
appointed by the customers periodically. The Group regularly
reviews and revises the estimation of contract revenue prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses based on the
internal construction progress reports and the certification issued by

the independent quantity surveyors.

mE MR

For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z-_MNFMA=TRALEE
TEREHMEE RAE
REBHRRELGTRBR - AR
SR LNATERIEREHER
ERER - RTEVFHFEFEARR
SEHBRENREBERABAFEANHDE
HfhE RRRARAT
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4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

Estimation of impairment of trade and other receivables, contract assets
and other financial assets

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including
trade and other receivables, contract assets and bank balances)
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as set out in
note 2.8. The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
contract assets at the end of the reporting period is set out in notes

I5 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

4.

5.

FEEEE R 2

(b)

ESRHMERRE  GHNEER
HitteMEEGTRE

AEBUHXRREBEREEEEN
BE(REBESREMERZKE -
BRBERBITHER)ENERE
RS RIFEREER 2 RRIELE
o RERERR  AEEREH
BAESE BTN RATEMERS
i RBAEELZEREARER
BE B BASE (WM 2857
&) RBEHREHREMER
HERANEENEDESN GRS
BERERME ISR 16°

Wi B2 ERE R
REERFRBROWRENT -

2024 2023
b2 =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET

Types of service PR 7% 3 B
Slope works (note a) N TR (MiFa) 301,802 199,013
Foundation works (note b) ETR(MED) 293 160
Revenue from contracts with customers BP&HE 302,095 199,173

Note a:  Slope works generally refer to landslip preventive and remedial works for
improving or maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining walls.
Note b:  Foundation works are generally concerned with the construction of

foundations.

Fitita :

BizEb :

METR-RIERBEXRER R
/RN ELRER
RERTIE -

WRETRE-RISHERE -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from construction contracts for both slope works and foundation
works are recognised over time based on the value of the services
transferred to customer to date. Progress certificates are issued by the
customers or their agents on a regular basis during the course of each
construction project. Due to time intervals between the latest progress
certificate issuance dates and the Group's financial reporting date of 30
April, there arose construction works performed as at 30 April 2024 which
were not yet certified and billed, thus contract assets are recognised for
such unbilled work as at 30 April 2024. Normally the services for slope
works are for the contracts which are over one year and foundation works

are for the contracts which are less than one year.

e R ARG
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z_NEMA=TALEE
WERDHBERE)
MERIRRMETRORERNKED
RS/ ILEBEEFPNRBEERR
By P FEE AR © %§F552$¥Tt££555<1li¥1
BRREPTHRELERERE - EFE
MEEERAERHAHNEAREDNA
TENMBREB R 2EANEEA
B BN _Z-_MFMA=1THE
THRETRHAZEANRRAER A
LA mﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ_::ﬂﬁﬂﬂ
ZTRAMREAREIRER -
%ﬁlh%ﬁ@ﬁ%—iut%mﬂ'
METRERR IR —FNEL -

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERr TET
Timing of recognition of revenue T 52 Uk 2 1Y s P
On over time basis BB R EE 302,095 199,173
Remaining performance obligations HRTENER

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the
future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially

unsatisfied) as at 30 April 2024 and 2023:

TREFIRBLERAREREEN_FT
THER-FE-_=_FHA=THHAE
7(HED HARBIT) 2 BHIE EHOME -

2024 2023

—E-mE —TC=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FET

Remaining performance obligations expected BEBITZHRTRAELE

to be satisfied

within | year —FR 302,800 321,321

more than | year but less than 2 years —FN EERMER 150,652 274,260

more than 2 years but less than 3 years MENFBE=FRK 41,856 134,057

more than 3 years but less than 4 years =ENEENEAR = 41,734

495,308 7 B2
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information

The Group has determined the operating segments based on the
information reported to the CODM. During the year, the CODM regards
the Group's business of performing slope works and foundation works
in Hong Kong as a single operating unit and assesses the operating
performance and allocates the resources of the Group as a whole.
Accordingly, the Group has one operating segment only and hence no

segment information is presented.

Geographical information

No separate analysis of segment information by geographical segment is
presented as the Group's revenue and non-current assets are principally
attributable to a single geographical region, which is Hong Kong, based on

location of operations and assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to 10% or

more of the Group's total revenue, is set out below:

WERDHBERE)

2 AR
AEEEERAEIELERREZHN
BHEEREN M - FR TELER
RERAEERNBBETRRIRERY
EIRNEBARE-GLEEU - LF
BERERRRNEASEERER - B
b AEEEE-ELENH  HAE
2FIREDHER -

HEER
ARASENRERETRBHEELEE
RE—WEREHENEE)  HLERE
EBREAENEEREMES BESH
DEERBILAHT

FRIEEFNER
REBTBEFP(UAARREBIKE 0%
AL )BT

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TEr THET

Customer A EPA 44,460 53,741
Customer B ®FB 164,780 102,037
Customer C ®PC 73,861 24,251

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or more to

the Group's revenue for both years.
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For the year ended 30 April 2024

BE-_Z-_MEMA=1THILEE

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAIN 6. HtWARHEMKE
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THET
Other income HiglgA
Bank interest income H|ITH B HBA 22 =
Government grants (note) g NGRS — 289
Reversal for provision of litigation claims FAREEERTD - 794
Gain from disposal of construction HEREIE B Rz W
project equipment — 530
Site supervision fee income BIGEEBURA 1,093 560
[,115 2,173
Other gain Hftr 2
Gain on disposal of motor vehicles HERE 2 W 732 —
732 —
1,847 2,173
Note:  During the year ended 30 April 2023, the Group recognised COVID9- B REE-E-_—FNA=+HILFE
related government grants of approximately HK$289,000 related to HE - AEERIAEEAENITHE
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Special BRnEESRENERES A2
Administrative Region Government under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. There FEEAEY COVID- 19 FHE B R A &
were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the #41289.000/8 7 « U Z S BB E

receipts of those subsidies. MR RER R EMIAEE o
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BEME
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THL
Interest on borrowings EERME 1,082 723
8. LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. KRBAIEE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRAIEBIEEHR GIA)UT&IE
2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
(a)  Staff costs (including director’s @) BIRK(BREZHMH
emoluments (note 12(a)) (HH&E 12(2))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IERHEMEN 3,959 4611
Retirement benefit schemes contribution RNEHM GBI 132 143
4,091 4,754
(b)  Other items (b) HfEE
Auditor's remuneration A GE 400 400
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BEREENNE
and equipment 85 273
Impairment loss on financial assets REAHEEHRRAER
under expected credit loss model, NEeRMEERERSS
net of reversal ER B (361) 334
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R EMERFIE (361) 388
— Contract assets —-ANEE — (54)
Legal and professional fees ERREXER 1,092 436
Expenses relating to short-term leases FHRHHENRY 548 45
Subcontracting charges AEFRX

(included in direct costs) (FFABEAAR) 296,336 195,260
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For the year ended 30 April 2024

BE-_Z-_MEMA=1THILEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FBHRAX
2024 2023
—E-mE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THRT
Hong Kong profits tax: ERMNEH -
Current year AER — —
Notes: Bt ot
() Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman lslands, the Group is () BREASESHRAKEAN AEER
not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands. HEHBERUEMPAEH -
(i) Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of profits (i) REANETRAH - REBTMAL
of a qualifying group entity incorporated in Hong Kong are taxed at 8.25%, ZABRARE 200EATENHHE
and profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%. £825% + MEBB00EBTIALNE

FlZHEER165%°

For the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong profits tax of BE_Z_MER-FB-_=FNA=+HI
FE AEENSEREBNEENGHR
BMEHMRHEE - KA FEH RS
ZEMEBREK S KRN BB 16.5% 8
R—HE@i - REAREENGHEE

the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in accordance with the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of other group entities in Hong

Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to

be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong profit tax EREAEEHEATREE "2 maER—
28 oy / N —< — —
was made as the subsidiaries in Hong Kong incurred tax loss during the E-=EN A=A FEESERIEER o

years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FBHME%®E)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss REGAGBEREMZAKRER &R
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other ST E Y BRI E R EERNT
comprehensive income as follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE —To=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERr FTET
Loss before tax BRI AR (349) (3,076)
Notional tax at the rate applicable to loss RIEARB AR 2 B
in the tax jurisdiction concerned ERAREFECBERTE (58) (508)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERHBUANT KT E (rary (302)
Tax effect of expense not deductible for SEHiIE B 891 AT IR R 2
tax purpose GOBTRYS % 601 663
Utilisation of tax loss not recognised WEER EBAREERE (422) —
Tax loss not recognised W R HIEEE — 147
Income tax expense PG X - —
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused tax REBESRR REEFL 14130008
losses of approximately HK$11,413,000 (2023: HK$13,971,000) available TT(ZEZ=F : 139710008 7T) Wfdiat
for offsetting against future profits of the companies in which the losses APAREERIRRNEEELEEE
arose. The estimated unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. BHATHRIRR o (HetRE AR E
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these estimated EREAERPEE - MRKIGEFHKR
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams. AT Ft W ERZE AT AD
AHEERRARLERIEEE
As at 30 April 2024, no deferred taxation has been provided as there are RZE-MNENA=+H ARYEH
no other significant unrecognised temporary differences (2023: Nil). MEAREAESZE  WITERER

RHA(—T_=F: &)
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No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the years ended 30

April 2024 and 2023 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of

the reporting period.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

GAMBREMNE
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z-MEMA=THISE
BRE

HE-_T-_WER-F-=FWA=+
HIEFEIERNY  ERIEZREE
kS BREHRETERZRE L

AR & o

BRER
AEARAEEABRGERERERZ
ERYBINT :

2024 2023
—E-ME i ——d
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the FARFTESRERLEEEE
Company for the purposes of basic and ZARRBEEA
diluted loss per share EiLFEANER (349) (3,076)
2024 2023
—BomE ZEIZHF
’000 '000
TR T
Number of shares RO#E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ AR EBREA KRB EEEN
for the purposes of basic and diluted LRk Nt T8
loss per share 1,577,200 1,577,200

No diluted loss per share is presented for both years as there were no

potential ordinary shares in issue.

ARYEDHTEEERKR  SMESF
EOR2 BREEEE -

9
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2. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS 2. EERTHRAREH
(a)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @) EBRTHASHH
Emoluments of directors and chief executive disclosed pursuant to BEENTTHEEZEH BE
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(l) of the Hong Kong Companies GEMLEMR A - BB LD AHEHISE
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information NERABEBEEEZFRE
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: RORBE 2O RELT -
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Fee and other scheme
emoluments benefits contributions Total
FeRHM RKER
neMe BA g 3 #st

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$°000
TRT TRR TR TR

2024 —E-NE

Executive directors: HITES:

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy (note (b)) B E:2 &1 (i3 (b)) — 315 16 331
Mr. Choi Pun Lap BEARYKE — 360 18 378
Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming BEXBEE — 240 12 252
Independent non-executive ~ BV FHTES :

directors:

Mr. Fu Yan Ming HRALE 120 — — 120
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan FUE LA 120 — — 120
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip REXERE 120 = = 120

360 915 46 1,321
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For the year ended 30 April 2024

BE-_Z-_MEMA=1THILEE

12.  DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 2. EERTHRARETMZ)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) () EERTBARFHZE)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Fee and other scheme
emoluments benefits contributions Total
o kEM R
ikl =l RN st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT

2023 —E-=F
Executive directors: HTEE:
Ms Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZHL — 360 18 378
Mr. Choi Pun Lap BEARUKE — 360 18 378
Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming BRALE (M )

(note (a)) — 197 10 207
Independent non-executive ~ BV FHTES :

directors:
Mr. Fu Yan Ming HRALE 120 — — 120
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan FXERE 120 — — 120
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip REREE 120 — — 120

360 917 46 1,323
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 2. EERTHRARETMZ)
(@)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) ) EERTHARHMZ)

Notes: Bz -

(@) Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming was appointed as an executive director of () RBEFAEXEBEZAERAR
the Company, with effect from 5 July 2022. AYTEE g ¥ -

+tARBRBENR -

(b)  Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy was resigned as an executive director of the by BEZLZIEHEARRAH

Company, with effect from 15 March 2024. TEE - g-_ZT-_M&E=A
THERBEY -

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their P TEEHEM O EIRREREE

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the BARNBINASEBEEREREHE

Company and the Group. B -

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above FBYERTEEHHNHEES

were for their services as directors of the Company. ARREERMRBOEH

Except as disclosed in note 23, no other transactions, arrangements BRIE2MBREEN  RNRES

and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the REFERIAEEREFERAR]

Company or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and SRR BRI B AR AN H R

in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or EENEPERSREREERRE

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting period or at any time EMEAEEXBEBRZEMT

during the year. 5 WHREK -

(b)  Five highest paid individuals b) ILEBEFMAL

For the year ended 30 April 2024, two directors are among the five
highest paid individuals (2023: Nil). The aggregate of the emoluments
in respect of the remaining three (2023: five) highest paid individuals

are as follows:

HE-_T_NEWA=THIHF
B hEmaTMATERERS
EE(CT=F:8) BT =4
(ZZ==F: AR)RZRFHAL
MEBBREIMT

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FAT

Salaries, fees and allowances 2 ) V=i 2,000 3,097
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAL — 166
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RREFIEH SR 54 83
2,054 3,346




HIBEREEREEBERAA
2024 F )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

[2. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e R ARG
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z-MEMA=THISE

EERTHRERTM =2
(b) HERSHFMAL(E)
FRATEHHEENT

Number of individuals

N |
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
Emolument bands FifEE
Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 Z £ 1,000,000 7T 3 5

No director or the five highest paid individuals received any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the
year ended 30 April 2024 (2023: Nil).

REZE_Z_MFMA=1HIF
ER - TEEZFIRARSTMA
TRARERIERMBME - ERM
BN B o 0 R A (B By Y 2R
CRERBERBE(CT_=F:
&) -

7
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For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE" T MENA=THILFE

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. W% BERRE

Furniture,
Plant and Motor  fixtures and
machinery vehicles equipment Total
B -
EE#E
o 55 e 2R RE &S mt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TEx TEr TER
Cost 2%
At | May 2022 R-_ZE-_—_FRHF—H 2,463 2,514 559 5,536
Written-off i (550) — — (550)
At 30 April 2023 RZEZ=FMA=+H 1913 2514 559 4,986
Additions AE — 577 37 614
Disposals & — (2,196) (24) (2,220)
At 30 April 2024 RZEZMEMA=1H 1913 895 572 3,380
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At | May 2022 R-_ZE-_—_#RA—H (2,463) (2224) (547) (5,234)
Charge for the year FRXH — (269) ) (273)
Written off s 550 — — 550
At 30 April 2023 RZEZ=FMA=+H (1913) (2,493) (551) (4,957)
Charge for the year FAXH — (80) (5) (85)
Written back on disposal & el — 2,196 24 2,220
At 30 April 2024 RZZ-_WMEMA=+A (1913) (377) (532) (2,822)
Carrying amount REE
At 30 April 2024 RZEZMEMA=+H — 518 40 558
At 30 April 2023 AZE-=%NA=+H — 21 8 29
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

As at 30 April 2024, costs of fully depreciated plant and machinery that
were still in use by the Group were HK$1,913,000 (2023: HK$1,913,000).

The management identified impairment indicator for subsidiary of
the Group that incurred loss for the year and performed impairment
assessment on the property, plant and equipment that were allocated to
that subsidiary, which mainly represented motor vehicles. The recoverable
amounts of the assets were determined based on fair value less costs of
disposal with reference to observable market prices of similar assets. As
the estimated recoverable amounts of these assets are greater than their

carrying amounts, impairment loss is not required.

e R ARG
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z_NEMA=TALEE

NE - BERRE#®)

RZZB-NFEFMA=+H NHEASE
BERAZBYARNEZRE ks
ZHARBI9130008 T (ZTE-_ZF:
1,913,00057T) °

EEERFRELEFENIEENELD
AIBRRERER  YHOETZMEA
AR - BERREB(EZEEAE)E
TRER S - BEMARESET2S

BUEENABRRMSERERATE
RMEEXAREE - MR AETEENMEE
EeEsRNERARE  REATE

N\
72
Gl

W

N

WEEE
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For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE" T MENA=THILFE

14, INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 4. RBLTNER

Issued share

Place/country of capital/registered
Company name incorporation capital 2024 2023 Principle activities
AR EMATNY B SRBA/EMER  SB-WE -T-=F IBEH
Directly held
EREAR
True Sincere Group Limited BVI US$! of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
EHEBEERAR RERUES | B 1 7T 8 Bk RERK
Indirectly held
BERR
Strong Move Global BVI US$1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Limited
FRRKBR A RERUES | B 1 32708 @R RERK
Magic City Developments BVI US$1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Limited
RERUES | B 1 27T 8 @R RERKR
Fraser Construction Hong Kong HK$18,000,000 of 100% 100%  Undertaking slope works,
Company Limited 180,000 ordinary foundation works and
shares other general building
works in Hong Kong
HERERRDA BB 180,000 & EEBETHEIR
18,000,0007&7T AT LA
ERK —REETR
Tubo Technology Hong Kong HK$1,000 of 1,000 100% 100%  Provision of consultancy
Construction Company ordinary shares services in relation to the
Limited management of projects
involving slope works,
foundation works and/or
other general building
works in Hong Kong
ARESZBRAF &8 1,000 & EERRESRAETE
100087 WETIRE,/ S
LRAK —REETRERER

H) 5 AR S
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For the year ended 30 April 2024

BE-_Z-_MEMA=1THILEE

I5S.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15. BEREMERKE
2024 2023
—EomE —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERr THET
Trade receivables from contract with customers RERFPALINE 5 RUGIE
(net of allowance for credit losses) (note (a))  (MBREEBEREE) (@) 24,021 38471
Deposits and other receivables Be REMEWRTIE 1,041 569
Prepayments (note (b)) ENEAGEAO) 1,199 8,004
26,261 47,044
Notes: i
(a)  Trade receivables @ EBIHEKRE
The Group usually provides customers with a credit term of 21-60 days AEEBEMEFRME2 FTOKR(Z
(2023: 21-60 days). For the settlement of trade receivables from provision of Zo=FF0K)ERAM- R
construction services, the Group usually reaches an agreement on the term HEERBHEFERFELEM
of each payment with the customer by taking into account of factors such as, S OAEEREREBEMNTNSRE
among other things, the credit history of the customer, its liquidity position XPERGE  Th(EPRE)RFE
and the Group's working capital needs, which varies on a case-by-case basis NEEESL  RBEeHRIRAEE
that requires the judgement and experience of the management. LEESEREREZ  ERENEBR
AR - WAKSEE RN
e,
Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net BERZAH - 5 ERFBEFRE
of allowance for credit loss, is as follows: EEERE NEBRSTET
2024 2023
—Eonf —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
0-30 days 0E30K 24,021 35,037
31-60 days 3IE60KR = 961
61-90 days 61 290K — —
Over 90 days BB K = 2,473
24,021 38,471
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set out Zo N EMERGRE  BETGEE

in note 24.3 to the consolidated financial statements. HNEABTESRRN 243 ¢
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For the year ended 30 April 2024

Hz2=

5.

ZMEMA=TRIEFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Prepayments

During the year ended 30 April 2024, the Group had made prepayments
in respect of on-going projects of approximately HK$1,199,000 (2023:
HK$8,004,000) to its subcontractors.

B2 REMEWRKE D)
fiaE : (4)

by BEK

BE_Z_NFNA=1tHILEFE "
AEEEHBEBRERNESBASN
BAFAT 1,199,000 T(ZE-=4F:
8,004,000 B7T) °

CONTRACT ASSETS BHREE
2024 2023
—E-MEF “T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Unbilled revenue P GEL e 592 1,046
Retention receivables FEWIRE & 3,627 3,246
4219 4292

Note: 3T -

Unbilled revenue represents the Group's right to receive consideration for
work completed and not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon the
satisfaction by the customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers. The contract assets
are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the time the Group obtains the certification of the completed

construction work from the customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent the Group's right
to consideration for work performed and not yet billed because the rights are
conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over [-3
years (2023: |-4 years) as stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, which
is typically at the expiry date of the period for the provision of assurance by the

Group on the service quality of the construction work performed by the Group.

ARERGEAREREMD T T TRER
REBRUFENBSEFEMAREHT
RRETRFAFEAIRESEFPRE
HARMARE - REMKBEEEE - 21
BENERZEIRYGE  —RAKXEE
EREFPUHETTIRETIRNRER -

FARNBENERRE S IEAEBRAH
R TIRUERR B RVAER] - 1B R K FE A A
BEERANRTZ I E3F(ZE==F: |12
4E)NEMRBERS AEEM AR R R
B GNBEREFIKAERERERZE
SREYFE  —BRAEERASEMRR
CEETRZRBERREREDEMIS
E| o
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CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The amount of contract assets expected to be recovered/settled
over one year is HK$357,000 (2023: HK$487,000), all of the remaining balances are

expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

The Group recognised net reversal of impairment losses of HK$Nil (2023:
HK$54,000) on contract assets for the year ended 30 April 2024. Details
of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note 24.3 to the

consolidated financial statements.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(@)  Cash and cash equivalents

e R ARG
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z-MEMA=THISE

BREE#)
fi3E - (48)

BEARARKER  SHEEERZEIE
WshE - BEBRBB—FUE HEzA
HNEEFRBARITO0B L ZE ==
487,000%7T) - BEMARBHR —FRK
k4% -

HE_Z_NFNA=THLFE A£E
ERRENEEREFBRESEATET
(ZZZ=F :54000%7) - AHEERE
BB R A M B RRIEE 243

ReRFASEEY
@ BERHALEEY

2024 2023
- 3 “T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHEBRS 29,834 [, 146
Deposits placed in banks REITHITER 4,000 =
33,834 | 146
Note: B3t

Cash at banks carries interest based on daily bank deposit rates and deposits
placed in banks with interest rate of 2.3% (2023: Nil) per annum for a period
of 8 days.

BAREKREARATERFIRFER
FABRITHETREF23%(ZE ==

£ E)NFIRAS  AHsK -

v
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For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE" T MENA=THILFE

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 7. BERBLZEY S
(b)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities b)) BMEZDELECABZHE
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities AEBELEREERY EE
are classified as follows: BT

Amount due Amounts due

to a director to former
of a subsidiary directors  Borrowings Total
Bt —F
WEAR ENAES
—REEHR TR fE & &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THET TRT
As at | May 2022 R-ZE-_—_FRA—H 51,800 4,292 4,969 61,061
Cash flows RERE
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHE - — 2,650 2,650
Repayment to a director of lm] — R EA R
a subsidiary —BEZEN (43,100) — — (43,100)
Non-cash changes FEEBE
Finance cost recognised ERRRE KR - — 723 723
At 30 April 2023 and RZEZ=FMA=+H
| May 2023 FZTE_=F1A—H 8,700 4,292 8,342 21,334
Cash flows RemE
Proceeds from borrowings EEMERE — — 3,144 3,144
Advance from a director of RE—FEREA A
a subsidiary —REENBN 45,500 = = 45,500
Repayment to a director of R—FANEBAR—RES
a subsidiary BR (21,100) — — (21,100)
Non-cash changes FREED
Finance cost recognised ERRRE KR - — 1,082 1,082
At 30 April 2024 R-E-MFEMA=+H 33,100 4292 12,568 49,960
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e B RS R R M RE
For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE-_Z-_MEMA=1THILEE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18. BEREMENRE
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT THEL
Trade payables (note (a)) ECTAERGEIR) 27,800 36,474
Retention payables (note (b)) FERHRER & (M EE (b)) 3,645 3,234
Accruals and other payables (notes (c) and (d)) FEFTERREMERNZIE
(BI#E () B (d)) 42,062 18,416
73,507 58,124
Notes: i

(a)  Payment terms granted by suppliers are 42-60 days (2023: 42-60 days) from

the invoice dates.

@ HEFRTHNFERAEEEADE
DNEOR(ZE-=F NF60K) -

2024 2023

It el 2 “Z-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER TET

0-30 days 0E30K 27,674 30,125
31-60 days 3IE60K — 893
61-90 days 61 E90K — -
Over 90 days HiBIOK 126 5,456
27,800 36,474

(b)  Retention payables are interest-free and settled in accordance with the terms

of the respective contracts.

(c)  Accruals and other payables included an amount due to a director of a
subsidiary of HK$33,100,000 (2023: HK$8,700,000). The balance is non-trade

nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

b)) RERRELARE LREBEEBAH
MEREE -

Rt BB REMEMNFBEBERMS—
RIKTB A R —REEFIE33,10000078
T(ZT = =% :8700000/8TT) ° &
BEBEEHME BRA THER
BRENREE -

7
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BE" T MENA=THILFE

8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

18. BZRHEMENRER)
fi3E - (48)

(d)  Amounts due to former directors, Mr. Zhou Ying of HK$3,365,000 (2023: (d) ERFEEERLERIR3365000%
HK$3,365,000) and Ms. Meng Ying of HK$927,000 (2023: HK$927,000), were T(Z T = =£F:3365000% T ) &
arisen from salaries due to them by the Company and advances from them HELTTNT0ET(ZE_=F:
to pay the operating expenses of the Company during the years ended 30 9270008 T ) EXBANREMNES
April 2022, 2021 and 2020. The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing GERBERT UL NARAAREE-
and repayable on demand. Up to the date of approval of the consolidated E-—F T —ER-T-THE
financial statements, the Company has not received any query or claim for MA=THILFEZEERY - £
the amounts due to them. BEAR 20RARERER-E

ERAMBRRERERS  KRA
18 AR B B A 18 S5 AR B M B T B Bk
AR
19. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 19. EHER
2024 2023
—ECoMmE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#7 Fib 7t
Contract liabilities arising from BESHBNRNTES
construction contracts from billings MEea%k
in advance of performance 1,211 8110

All of the contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as revenue

within one year.

BHMMARNEERN —FAERR/R

Ny
o

Bl
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

mE MR

For the year ended 30 April 2024

BHE_Z-_NEMA=+HIFE

19. EHEEE)

2024 2023

—EomE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FHET

Balance as at | May REA—Bz&#% 8,110 —
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of RIUA=+HzBNE

receipts in advance balance at 30 April EREHAENABIEM — 8,110

Recognised as revenue during the year AEEERRRBKA (6,899) =

Balance as at 30 April RIMA=+Hz & 1,211 8,110

Contract liabilities arose from the advance payments received from the
customers. The Group has the right to apply for advance payments from
the customers which are normally based on 5% of the estimated total
price of each task under the project. During the year ended 30 April 2024,
there was | (2023: 2) project which had such advance payment.

As at 30 April 2024, contract liabilities represent revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from the stage of completion of the slope and
maintenance work in accordance with the remaining performance over the
lease term, which is expected to occur in the next |2 months from the

end of the respective reporting period.

HBEREME WA ERNRE
BERENEPRERMNTIE 1t
BETEBEAKENBENSA
HE-BE_T_NENAZ+HLF
B AIA(ZE-_=% 2@)EAEY
HBBEATE -

AN
(=]
U S
B A

RZZ-_MEMNA=+TRH ANEER
BER RN B REBRET AR 218 AR
REEEHAATEOBRNEREET
{ETTAK B ER PR RE SR LA

5]
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BE" T MENA=THILFE

20. BORROWINGS 20. BE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
Borrowing, unsecured B8 - mEA 12,568 8,342
Classification based on contractual BESVERERHE
repayment terms:
Current portion mEE D 12,568 8,342
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EEARNTER
Within | year or on demand | ENSIREK 12,568 8,342
Note: Wiat -
On 28 July 2022, the Company signed a loan facility agreement with a financial R-ZE-—&E+A-+/\B ' AQFEH—
institution, which became a fellow subsidiary of the Company during the year ended ZEBBEREREERFE LB 36,000,000
30 April 2023, with loan facility limit of HK$36,000,000. During the year ended 30 THEFRERZ  ZRBREE
April 2024, the Company borrowed the loan principal amounted to HK$3,144,000. EMA=THIIEERAKRATNEZRKEB
The loan balances outstanding at 30 April 2024 bear 12% interest per annum AR -BEZE-_NEMB=1THILEE -
and are repayable on 31 October 2025. The loan facility agreement contains a ARREEAERARNE S 53,144,000/ TT ©
repayment on demand clause and therefore, the borrowing is classified under R-ZE-_MEMA=+HZAEEEREL
current liabilities, BREME %R WEARZE-AFTA

Zt-REE - EXREBRESRERE
BHF Bt BFRRBRERTHE -
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For the year ended 30 April 2024

HE-Z-MFNA=+HIFE

21. SHARE CAPITAL 21, BA
(@)  Share capital @@ B=E
2024 2023
“EoNE ZED=F
No. of shares No. of shares
R EE RinEE
’000 HK$’000 '000 HK$'000
Ti TER i TEx
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  SREEOOIBTMERE 2,000,000 20000 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  BREE 001 BTH BB
At the beginning and end of NGNS

the reporting period 1,577,200 15,772 1,577,200 15,772
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as TARER NG REWETETIRN
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share BB MEER—R—EZRNAAT
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with Ae FRE . AT @EREAANR
regard to the Company's residual assets. ZRBEEZBREHN o
(b)  Capital risk management (b) EBXERER

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the AEEBEAEREERRASER
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an BERECLTRBICERRKE
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and services MM RISER  ARERER

commensurately with the level of risk. #JEIR
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21.

(b)

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 2. RAE#E)
Capital risk management (Continued) (b) EBXEREEE)
The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and REBRBRERRTEERRET
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The MEERNESMIELFE - A%
Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. BEERNEEQRBH RERHEAR
For this purpose, total debt is defined as amount due to a director BoBting  BEHRBATAERE
of a subsidiary, amounts due to former directors and borrowings N—TNBRR—REERE B
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. The R EEREREEGINGA Y
management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost BRRKRAR) - EEEZBES
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view ERARARSBERAEBENRRE
of this, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to BIEARE - BERNIL - NEET
shareholders, issue of new shares, return of capital to shareholders, AR M TFRENKRESS - 3%
raise of new debt or sell assets to reduce debt. THRG  MRRERER - £5
FEBRLEEENRERS -
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RBREDRNEEABLRMT ¢
2024 2023
—E-mE —ETC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Total debts: B
Amount due to a director of a subsidiary RN —HNERAR—REEHE 33,100 8,700
Amounts due to former directors R RIESERA 4,292 4,292
Borrowings fEE 12,568 8,342
49,960 21,334
Deficit attributable to owners of ARRIER ARIGEA
the Company (22,643) (22,294)
Gearing ratio BEABIE (220.6%) (95.7%)




HIBMEREEREEARLA 155
2024 4 %

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS R R M RE

For the year ended 30 April 2024

HE-Z-MFNA=+HIFE

22.  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 2. ADFHHBRRAE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAT
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RIBRRIRIRE I
Current asset REBEE
Cash and bank balances He RBITHS 48 112
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H fth e 5008 2,569 2,544
Borrowings BE 12,568 8,342
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN E 20,304 20,304
Amounts due to former directors ENRIESHA 4,292 4,292
39,733 35,482
Net current liabilities RBAETE (39,685) (35,370)
Net liabilities BEFE (39,684) (35,369)
Capital and reserve BRAR#E
Share capital R 15,772 15772
Reserves f# (55,456) (51,141)
Total deficit EuesE (39,684) (35,369)
Signed on behalf of the board of Directors on 31 July 2024 by: BTN EER-_E-_NF+A=+—H
REEZGRE:
Mr. Law, Ka Ming Michael Mr. Choi Pun Lap BRHALE BAVEE

Director Director BF EE
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22.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 22, ZARAFMNBERRIRZ)
(Continued)

Note: The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: s - RAREBENEEERNT -

Accumulated

Share premium losses Total

Befnis (& 2B R @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR THET TERT

As at | May 2022 i e i el = 72,131 (120,702) (48,571)
Loss and total comprehensive FNBBREZERXEHE

expense for the year — (2,570) (2,570)
As at 30 April 2023 and RZEZ=FMA=+H

| May 2023 RZFEZ=%HA—H 72,131 (123,272) (51,141)
Loss and total comprehensive FNBBEREZERXEHE

expense for the year — (4,315) (4,315)

As at 30 April 2024 R-ZB-NFEMWA=+H 72,131 (127,587) (55,456)
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered into the following

related party transactions:

(@)  Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the

23.

e R ARG

For the year ended 30 April 2024

HE-Z-MEMA=THISE
BHLRS

BREAMBRREMBIFR LS R

BEON ARERRTIATHER AR S

@ FEEEASHH
ARAEERARERE(RTE

Company, who represent the key management personnel are as EEAS)FHHIOT
follows:

2024 2023
It 13 —B-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Salaries, fee and allowance e, wekEM 2,885 3,387
Discretionary bonuses IETEAL — 80
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RGBT B 82 92

2,967 3,559

5
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BE-F-MENA=THLFE
23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b)  Transaction with related party
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,

the Group entered into the following transaction with its related

23.

BHAIRS (&)
(b) EHEBHELINXZ

A BERREMEDIABES
b REEEERER RN MR

party: I~
Name of related party Nature 2024 2023
)bt HE a2 —Zo=f
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TRT
Mars Glare Limited Rent paid thereto (note (i) 460 440
EZHRBRAT BAHES ()

Rental expense paid to related party are constituted as continuing
connected transaction under GEM Listing Rules, but are exempted
from the announcement, reporting and independent shareholders'

approval requirement.
Note:

0) An office with car parking space was leased from Mars Glare Limited
during the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023 on terms mutually
agreed between both parties and the monthly rental is based on
the market value. Mars Glare Limited is a company of which Mr.
Yu Shek Man Ringo, a director of a subsidiary of the Company, is a

shareholder.

(c) Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the

reporting period are set out in notes 18(c), 18(d) and 20.

BRIEGEM MR B - T BB
ARHERAZERFERERS -
BEHEETRE  BREBUR
REUEMBRTE

i

() BEEZFHRBEHER R
BE_Z-_MER-_T_=F
MA=THIEEEBEZHAE
PR &) A A — R B 7 15 B 9
RAEUARGAREHERT
HEE - RBBLE(RRA—
HEARMESR) REZHE
RAFMARE

R AR AR S AR R
FARTEE 18(c) * 18(d) }220
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The financial risks include
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the

senior management of the Group and approved by the Board of Directors.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.

24.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of

financial position relate to the following categories of financial assets

24.

BAMERENE
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z_NEMA=TALEE
BEEBREER D VENE
AEERAREBEETEREATA
TAAERBRR - HEREBREENE
Rk FERBRABEZER A%
EMERARERRREAREAKE
PHRENEBEINTERERE - B
RERDMARESRERERTLL
ExefE-

AEBUZFRERNAERASEEE
ZERBRAROMERREERKRE
PIEH T -

24 SREEREEDTE
RAEMBARRRMSIEEER T
CREENBELEEHE

and liabilities:
2024 2023
—E-mE ZZZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets CRMEE
At amortised cost: RE KA E
— Trade and other receivables - BSREMEKFIA
and deposits (excluding prepayments) FEE (TN RERAK) 25,062 39,040
— Cash and cash equivalent - ReRREEEY 33,834 [.146
58,896 40,186
Financial liabilities cRMEE
At amortised cost: R E AT E
— Trade and other payables - B 5 REMENTIE 73,507 58,124
— Borrowings —f§E 12,568 8,342

86,075 66,466

[s,
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)

242

243

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market

interest rates.

The Group's interest rate risks arise primarily from borrowings,
which carry interests at fixed rate and expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The exposure to interest rate risk for the

Group's bank balances and deposits is considered immaterial.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of
the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The
Group's exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit
to customers in the ordinary course of its operations and from its

investing activities.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the
carrying amounts of the financial assets at the end of each reporting
period as detailed in note 24.1 and contract assets at the end of the

reporting period.

— = T a0

24.

BEEREER DV ERE)

242

243

FEREBR

MERBRDEREE#TANADTE

FRERERERMEMNENEE)
MmEEHER

AEBFEEREERAZETE
MEFEZEE  FAKEEELD
FEMRER - AREZRITER

RIZE R R BB DR AR A
EDND
FERR

FERREERIAZRSHFR
RRESBTIAZKRBETELL
RRAEERIMBER AR -
AEEAX 2 EERBREERGR
HAREBBEREPHREERR
KEREED -

AEBEfAZ  REEERRER
NERBEERSREHR 2 REE
(FMBHEE 24,1 Fraf il ) AR R W EE
NREHRZIRAEME °
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BE_Z-_NEMA=+HIFE
24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24, BiREKREEBRAVEHE#E)
(Continued)

243 Credit risk (Continued) 243 FERRE)

In respect of trade receivables and contract assets, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers and counterparties.
These evaluations focus on the counterparty’s financial position,
past history of making payments and take into account information
specific to the counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the counterparty operates. Monitoring
procedures have been implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and other
receivables and contract assets at the end of each reporting period
to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable

amounts.

As at 30 April 2024, the Group has concentration of credit risk
as 65% (2023: 50%), and 97% (2023: 99%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group's largest customer and five
largest customers respectively. The aggregate carrying amounts of
trade receivables from these customers amounted to HK$ 15,727,000
(2023: HK$19,423,000), and HK$23,351,000 (2023: HK$38,650,000)
of the Group's total trade receivables at 30 April 2024.

BNEZRKTERANEE &
FHMBRF REFETERNE
EHE - ZEHERINEFHZ
BB - BENREE  TER
HF N ZBEEMARESF L
LHRBNEERE - ARECEE
ELHERE Fr R IR IR IREUE — TR
EASMES - Ut AEERER
EARENEENE S REBER
TRELRANEEZATRESE WA
BRSNS RELTRRE
EREE -

RZE-NFMA=1H EHE
WTE B 65% (Z T = F
50%) ] 97% (ZBZ=%F : 99%) 7
RlARKAEBEATPRAEAR
PHRE  BEASEEERRS
FeRZTZMEMA=FAH"
BUZEEFHNE ZRERFIEL
FEEALSEEHRKFIEL
BI57270008 L(ZEZ=F:
19,423,000 % 7T ) & 23,351,000/ 7T
(ZZ =% : 38,650,000/ °
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24.
(Continued)
243 Credit risk (Continued)

BEEREER DV ERE)

243 ERR(E)
AEENRPEERBRSHTMEE
EATEE

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

Internal credit Trade receivables/ Other financial assets/

rating Description contract assets other items
ERRNRE HittemEE

AEREE AR i BREE HfttE R

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL - [2-month ECL
default and does not have any not credit-impaired
past-due amounts

Ve HFHEDRRER Y EEFEEAR EHEHREESE - 128 A BHEEEE

ABEEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL - |2-month ECL
dates but usually settles not credit-impaired
after due date

BREE EBAREEIHARETERE EHEHREEEE - 2 EARBEEER
R BRER AREEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - not
in credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources

2= BBALIIEAEER - FERE FHEHEEEE - 2HRMEERHE -
B YA RER IR KR £t AREEEERE AEEEERE
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24 BERBREERATEFEE)

(Continued)
243 Credit risk (Continued) 243 FERRE)
Internal credit Trade receivables/ Other financial assets/
rating Description contract assets other items
EZEKRE HittemEE
AEREE R R BHEE HER
Loss There is evidence indicating Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - credit-
the asset is credit impaired credit-impaired impaired
B FRBRREESZEEERE EHRHEEESRE- SHEAEEEE-
EAEEERE FEEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off

the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
HisH FEBENEBARNBRENBREE  MEFA MR
AL EEIE SRR B A B
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24 BERBREERATEFEE)

(Continued)
24.3 Credit risk (Continued) 243 ERR(E)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's TRWRAEEBIELTEHEZES
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: BN SR EECERBSE -
External  Internal 2024 2023
credit credit [2-month or “EINE —TC-=F
Notes rating rating lifetime ECL HK$’000 HK$'000
W HEHEE RBEE NREARSGEEESR
FHR FHR F2HAAEEER TR TR
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RBENTIR EMEE
Trade and other
receivables
B 5 R EMERRR
— Trade receivables I5 N/A Low risk  Lifetime ECL (not credit 24,189 39,000
impaired and

provision matrix)
—BHRA0R TER  EBRR  2ERHEEBRCREL
EERENERER)
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24, BiEREERATLEHIE(£)

(Continued)
243 Credit risk (Continued) 243 FERKR(E)
External  Internal 2024 2023
credit credit [2-month or “E-NE —E-=F
Notes rating rating lifetime ECL HK$’000 HK$'000
M SEBEE RBEE NREARSGEEER
TR AR F2HENEEER T THL
— Deposits and other I5 N/A Low risk [2-month ECL 1,062 590
receivables (assessed individually)
—1RE RE MR FIR rER BRkR REARPEEESR
CEGIEREY)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 13,715 13,715
(credit impaired)
TER  BE FHRHEERR
(BBREEERE)
Contract assets 16 N/A Low risk  Lifetime ECL 4,262 4,335
(not credit impaired
and provision matrix)
BNEE TER ERR  2HRHEESR
(REEEERER
BiEekE)
Bank balances and cash 17 Aa3 to A2 Low risk  |2-month ECL 33,834 [, 146

(assessed individually)
RITEHERE ABEA2 BREE  REABRBEEEE
CEGIESEY
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
243 Credit risk (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables
For other receivables, the directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive and forward-looking information. For the year
ended 30 April 2024, the Group assessed the ECL for deposits
and other receivables and loss allowance of HK$13,736,000 (2023:
HK$13,736,000) was recognised as at the end of the year.

Bank balances and deposits

The Group's bank balances and deposits placed with approved and
reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks may cause
the Group's right with respect to bank balances and deposits held
to be delayed or limited. The directors of the Company monitor the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and consider that
the Group's exposure to credit risk as at 30 April 2024 and 2023

was minimal.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past
|2 months. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group's view of

economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

24.

BEEREER DV ERE)

243 ERR(E)

RERHtERTRE

BEMERRENS ARAES
BEBALERDS  BALR N
REBRAXFHNTEEREMEH
WRAIEER - EHERe REM
B TR T8 9 mT UK Bl B B 1T [ B RT
- BE-_T-NEMA=TAHL
FF - AEBERTMRE REME
RFENEREEERBIERTF
REER 137360008 (=T ==
6 ¢ 13,736,000 70 ) KB B RS o

BITEBREN
AEBERIRITE R RIFRTF R
TR REBRFHRIT - RITH
EXENEEDFEERAEER
HF# A BV RITAE B8 I T7 SR AR R
BHIEH X BB - RRRESH
BERZERTNEETR  BR
RASER-_ZT-_MFER-T_=
FNA=TRAAX 2 EERRE
L

ESRURERGHNEE
RHERXLREBET @AM
ERBRERAE - ZFHLXREE
HAE - ARBREEBHEERAE
HAEERR « B TR R AR B
FRUGERRF MARERRNE
EZEMESR
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24, BIEEKREER ALENEE)
(Continued)
243 Credit risk (Continued) 243 FERKR(E)
ESEBNERGHNEE(E)
ERBRUFERGNEEZE
EEBRERERZAMET :

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Analysis of the allowance for credit loss in respect of trade
receivables and contract assets as at the end of the year is as

follows:

2024
Sk
Average Gross Expected

loss rate carrying amount credit losses

FHERZR #BREE - RAHEEESR
Trade receivables % HK$’000 HK$'000
g5 EWHE % TR TR
Current (not past due) ENEA (R HA) — 24,021 =
1-30 days past due #E 130K — — —
31-60 days past due BHEI3I-60K — — —
61-90 days past due #6190 K — — —
More than 90 days past due  BHI90KIA L 100.00% 168 168
24,189 168
2023

—EC=F
Average Gross Expected
loss rate  carrying amount credit losses
FHEREE BEREE BHEEER
Trade receivables % HK$'000 HK$'000
=) e % TR TR
Current (not past due) ENEA (K@) — 35,037 —
1-30 days past due #E 130K — 961 —
31-60 days past due BHI3I-60K — — —
61-90 days past due BHI6I-90K — — —
More than 90 days past due  #HI90KIA L 17.62% 3,002 529
39,000 529




168 ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R MG

For the year ended 30 April 2024

BE" T MENA=THILFE

24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24, BEEABEERAFEFESE)
(Continued)
24.3 Credit risk (Continued) 243 FERRGE)

BESRUHERGNER(E)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

2024
k3
HK$’000
TER
Contract assets BREE

2024 —BomE
Expected credit loss rate (%) BHEEBHEE (%) 1.01%
Gross carrying amounts AERE(E 4,262
Expected credit losses REEEER 43
Net carrying amounts FREE 4,219
2023
—EC=E
HK$'000
TAET

Contract assets BREE

2023 —R-=F
Expected credit loss rate (%) BHEEEEE (%) 0.99%
Gross carrying amounts BERE(E 4,335
Expected credit losses BHEEER 43
Net carrying amounts FEREE 4292
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24 BERBREERATEFEE)

(Continued)
243 Credit risk (Continued) 243 FERRE)
Deposits and other receivables RERH YR
The following table shows the movement in [2-month and lifetime TRETR—MAETOERNES
ECL that has been recognised for deposits and other receivables LEMEWSTIER I2EABHE
under the general approach: EERERAHESEEEREHES
W
12-month Lifetime
ECL ECL Total
1218 A 2HES
RAEEER FEEBR @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T TERr
As at | May 2022 R-ZZE-—FHA—H 21 13,715 13,736
Impairment recognised B #RRE — _ -

At 30 April 2023, | May 2023 RZTEZ=FMA=1H
and 30 April 2024 “T=FRhA-BAR
—TMEMA=+H 21 13,715 13,736
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24 BERBREERATEFEE)

(Continued)
243 Credit risk (Continued) 243 EBERR(E)
Movements of allowance for expected credit loss for trade BoREWETE - ANEENEME
receivables, contract assets and other receivables are as follows: WHIE 7B EEEERE 2
mr
Deposits
Trade Contract and other
receivables assets receivables Total
7ER
=) e 8 BRNEE HittEWHE #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
As at | May 2022 i s R = 141 97 13,736 13,974
(Reversal of)/allowance ERAEHEEER
for expected credit (Bml),/ Bt
loss recognised 388 (54) — 334
As at 30 April 2023 RZZE-=FMA=+AH
and | May 2023 RZEZ=FhH—H 529 43 13,736 14,308
Reversal of allowance BHEEEERERTD
for expected credit loss (361) — — (361)
As at 30 April 2024 RZZE-ZMFEMA=+A 168 43 13,736 13,947
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24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24, BiREKREEBRAVEHE#E)
(Continued)

244 Liquidity risk 244 REBELER

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade payables
and its financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group's objective is to maintain an appropriate
level of liquid assets and committed lines of funding to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term in accordance

with note 2.3.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the Group in

meeting its liabilities.

Analysis below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities for its
non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
When the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date on when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the liability
is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the earliest date in

which the Group is committed to pay.

nBE TR RN EEKREET
HENRNRe A —eREERS
EMmcRaBEEEEENRARA
- AEERBEE HERNRER
BIEREEETEUKRSRE
ERAEAXRBDESRRE - A%
Bl B RARFEEKTHREE
ERAHEREE  UREMF
VIRAERRRIRDELTE -

EEREEARENRRERE
NHERENENERRE -

TXAAEERREMREBENE
TEERABNHRTEOFHRD
i - fHERABEEZEEAEN
R ERBERRAREREER
EENKFERIAR - Mk ERE

ANHEER  BEERRRAEE
AHERNSFAMARK -
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 24 BERBREERATEFEE)

(Continued)
24.4 Liquidity risk (Continued) 244 REBELEKE)
The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the undiscounted TYHEANI BRI BENSHE
cash flows of the financial liabilities. BHRMERBRETEEL -
On demand Total
or within undiscounted Carrying
one year cash flows amount
RER REH
FR-FR RERBAR fREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TR TER
As at 30 April 2024 R-EBE-MFEMA=+H
Trade and other payables B REMENRIE 73,507 73,507 73,507
Borrowings fEE 12,568 12,568 12,568
86,075 86,075 86,075
As at 30 April 2023 RZZZ=FMA=+AH
Trade and other payables B REMENRIE 58,124 58,124 58,124
Borrowings e 8,651 8,651 8,342
66,775 66,775 66,466
The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in AEERTERERRDE SRR
assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash resources EeZE4RiENTEHESR
and other liquid assets that readily generate cash. B LERERGERRIELER
ENEMRBEE -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(Continued)
245 Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair

values for both years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme on |5
October 2015 (the “Scheme"). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel, to
provide additional incentive to eligible participants and to promote the
success of the business of the Group. Eligible participants of the share
option scheme include employees (full-time and part-time), directors,
consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,

business partners or service providers of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme, in any |2-month period up to the

date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable
by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for
the grant of option(s) is HK$I. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant

subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

24.

25.

e R ARG
For the year ended 30 April 2024
HE-Z-_MNFMA=TRALEE

BEEREER DV ERE)

245 LVEIE
RMEFE - ARE LR HRAS
FeeREERAR KEERA
AFELTEEAER -

EREE

ARARZZE-RFTATHBEBRHEK
AR T8I ([5251 8l ]) - &Et BlIGRRTD
EBRCEMEMHAAEBEMNBIAT °
ZAEEERSIRERTRESAL
RUBIRETEEBRLEE WD
AEBEBAILEE - BREHENE
ER2EEQEAEBEE (2B R
B) 25 B BHAA 2HE K
Br - HED RE FF BEEH
MRS L RERS o

HERHABLLEMREAADREAN B
RIBZ B R 2 R E R R B AR
(BRETEREARTEORBE) BT
EMRITRETETORDEE  IF
BBDBITRIDA 1%

REBERENZORENELEHRED
BH(ERER)ELENERR - BR
BARANEAREMNBORREROER
BARRE BT - ARARTRES
SR RERTMERE - BREREZEN
[ERITRERERE - EABHE T SHB
REOBHEF 6 IXBBRMNLL
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25.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant of the option. For the purpose of calculating the subscription price,
where the Company has been listed on the Stock Exchange for less than
five business days, the new issue price shall be used as the closing price for

any business day falling within the period before listing.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing
on the date of adoption, being 15 October 2015, and shall expire at the
close of business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth
anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by the shareholders of the

Company in general meeting.

(@)  The terms and conditions of the share options granted are as follows:

25.

ERETEE)

BEZ R LM EASEBRENR
NDRBERESS2RETTANS A
 BAGERTIESE : ()RHOR
BERERLAB(VEREER)NER
FIBARERMBUTE : ()RORE
EBERERLBSHIAEEEAERR
I ARERMBMTEHKTE : K i)
DA ERER L B EAEE - R
ERBEMS  WALARBIAMN L
MHEORAEEER  HRITEKA
fER ETATERAMEEBHRTE -

FZE BN EME R T —0F1+ A
THER)EFTFABR - BRIFERRK
SLEARARRERRL  BRRE
EEBE SN T BEFA—EEXEH
BERREREER o

() RHBRENERREEDT

Number of
instruments ~ Vesting conditions Exercise period
TAHE BERH 765
Options granted to employees
KT R 8 HRBAE -
— On 23 September 2019 60,000,000  No vesting period or 5 years
vesting condition

-RZZ-NFNLA-+=H TREBH G R 5
Total share options granted 60,000,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(@)  The terms and conditions of the share options granted are as follows:
(Continued)
As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, there were no options outstanding
in relation to the grant of share options on 23 September 2019
under the Scheme. All the options granted were forfeited due to the

employees with options granted left the Group.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
There was no material major non-cash transaction for the years ended 30
April 2024 and 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There was no significant event after the reporting period for the year
ended 30 April 2024.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of Directors on 31 July 2024.
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Financial Summary

MBEE

For the year ended 30 April 2024
BE_T_NENA=TRALFE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is as follows.

UN S
fEH

BEDTAMREENRENREERSE

]
EHIMT -

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
BN —To=F —T-_F _T-—F _T_ITF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TExT FHET FET TAET FET
Revenue ez 302,095 199,173 133,305 110,123 144,816
Direct cost BEERA (296,336)  (195260)  (131,451)  (108,666)  (143,467)
Gross profit EF 5,759 3913 ,854 |,457 1,349
Other income and other net loss Hip A EH
BEFHE 1,847 2,173 868 1,269 (1,424)
Administrative expenses THRX (7,234) (8,105) (9.538)  (14971)  (40,804)
Loss on deconsolidation BIHEE NRRB AR A
of subsidiaries fEE - - - (23,575) _
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRBAREE — - (185) — —
Impairment loss on financial assets & B & ERERKE 361 (334) (76)  (57,539) (656)
Operating gain/(loss) meWaE/ (B18) 733 (2,353) (7077)  (93359)  (41,535)
Finance cost RMERA (1,082) (723) (287) (1 (254)
Loss before income tax BRAT S AT E 1R (349) (3,076) (7364)  (93360)  (41,789)
Income tax credit FrisHige — = = = 170
Loss for the year FEBE (349) (3,076) (7,364) (93,360) (41,619)
Other comprehensive Hi2EEA/(FAX)
income/(expense) — — — 4,173 (1,108)
Total comprehensive expense FEXERZLRE
for the year (349) (3,076) (7364)  (89,187)  (42,727)
Loss attributable to owners ARRHEE AEHERE
of the company (349) (3,076) (7.364)  (93360)  (39,581)
Total comprehensive expense ARAIBEAARGERE
attributable to owners A B
of the Company (349) (3,076) (7.364)  (91,190)  (40,724)
Assets and liabilities BEERBE
Total assets mEE 64,872 52,511 71,362 50,172 161,559
Total liabilities BafE (87,515)  (74,805)  (90,580)  (62,026)  (84,226)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE)/EEFE (22,643)  (22294)  (19218)  (11,854) 77,333
Equity attributable to owners ARBHER AEIEER
of the company (22,643)  (22294)  (19218)  (11,854) 77333
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